# **RURAL ECONOMY**

**Consumer Preferences for Biopreservatives in Beef and Pork Packaging and Testing the Importance of Product Origin** 

James Unterschultz, Kwamena Quagrainie and Michele Veeman

Project Report 96-03

Alberta Agricultural Research Institute Project No. 94L601

# Project Report



**Department of Rural Economy** Faculty of Agriculture, Forestry and Home Economics University of Alberta Edmonton, Canada

#### **Consumer Preferences for Biopreservatives in Beef and Pork Packaging and Testing the Importance of Product Origin**

James Unterschultz, Kwamena Quagrainie and Michele Veeman

Project Report 96-03

Alberta Agricultural Research Institute Project No. 94L601

The authors are respectively, Assistant Professor, Research Associate and Professor, Department of Rural Economy, Faculty of Agriculture, Forestry and Home Economics, University of Alberta.

Funding for this project was provided by an Alberta Agricultural Research Institute Research Grant and by the Alberta Agricultural Research Institute's sponsorship of the AARI Professorship in Marketing.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

SUMMARY	1
1.0. INTRODUCTION	
1.1 Background	
1.2. Research Objectives	
1.3. Benefits of the Study	
2.0. THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	
2.1. Overview of previous studies	10
2.2. Revealed Preference and Scaling Methods	10
<ul><li>2.3. The Stated Preference Method</li><li>2.3.1. Stated Preference: Analytical Framework</li></ul>	
3.0. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	15
3.1. Research Procedure	
3.2. Study Area	
3.3. Product Characteristics or Attributes	15
3.4. The Questionnaire	16
3.5. Survey Method	17
3.6. Model Specification Estimation Procedure	17
4.0. FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION	22
4.1. Introduction	22
4.2. Red Meat Consumption	22
4.3. Stated Preference Results and Related Scaling Results	22

4.3.1. Adding Biopreservatives to fresh meat packages	23
4.3.2. Origin of the Product	24
4.3.3. Price and other Product Attributes	25
4.3.4. Socioeconomic Factors	26
4.4. Simulation Results	27
4.5. Scaling Method Results (General Questions in Part "A" of the questionnaire)	30
4.6. Summary of Demographic Factors of Respondents	31
4.7. Conclusions	31
APPENDIX I: PRODUCT FACTORS AND LEVELS	i
APPENDIX II: SAMPLE INTRODUCTORY LETTER SENT TO ALL PARTICIPANTS	ii
APPENDIX III: A SAMPLE COPY OF THE SURVEY QUESTIONNAIRE	iii
APPENDIX IV: SOME COMMENTS BY RESPONDENTS ON THE ISSUE OF BIOPRESERVATIVES	ix
APPENDIX V: RESULTS OF ANALYSES OF PARTS A AND C OF QUESTIONNAIRE	xi
APPENDIX VI: BIOGRAPHICAL DATA OF RESEARCHERS	xxix

# FIGURES

Figure	1a	Frequency of Meat/Fish Consumption (All Respondents)	51
Figure	1b	Frequency of Meat/Fish Consumption (Winnipeg Respondents)	51
Figure	1c	Frequency of Meat/Fish Consumption (Regina Respondents)	52
Figure	1d	Frequency of Meat/Fish Consumption (Victoria Respondents)	52
Figure	1e	Frequency of Meat/Fish Consumption (Edmonton Respondents)	53
Figure	2a	Average Rating of Part 'A' Statements 1 to 7	54
Figure	2b	Average Rating of Part 'A' Statements 8 to 14	55
Figure	3	Respondents' Opinion on Research on Biopreservatives	56
Figure	4	Family size of Respondents	56
Figure	5	Age Group of Respondents	57
Figure	6	Income Group of Respondents	57
Figure	7	Response to Part 'A' Statements (All Respondents)	xv
Figure	8	Response to Part 'A' Statements (Winnipeg Respondents)	xvi
Figure	9	Response to Part 'A' Statements (Regina Respondents)	xvii
Figure	10	Response to Part 'A' Statements (Victoria Respondents)	xviii
Figure	11	Response to Part 'A' Statements (Edmonton Respondents)	xix
Figure	12	Mean Response to Part 'A' Statements Segmented by Family Size	xx
Figure	13	Mean Response to Part 'A' Statements Segmented by Age Group	xxi
Figure	14	Mean Response to Part 'A' Statements Segmented by Income Group	xxii
Figure	15	Mean Response to Part 'A' Statements Segmented by Research Opinion	xxiii
Figure	16	Percentage Consumption of Meat/Fish (All Cities)	xxiv
Figure	17	Percentage Consumption of Meat/Fish (Winnipeg)	XXV
Figure	18	Percentage Consumption of Meat/Fish (Regina)	xxvi
Figure	19	Percentage Consumption of Meat/Fish (Victoria)	xxvii
Figure	20	Percentage Consumption of Meat/Fish (Edmonton)	xxviii

# TABLES

Table	1: Estimated Coefficients For Model 1 - Non-segmented model:	
	(Specified for all respondents using a Continuous Price Variable)	34
Table	2a: Estimated Coefficients For Model 2 - Segmented Model:	
	(Beef Steak model segmented by location using a Continuous Price Variable)	35
Table	2b: Estimated Coefficients For Model 2 - Segmented Model:	
	(Pork Cut model segmented by location using a Continuous Price Variable)	36
Table	2c: Estimated Coefficients For Model 2 - Segmented Model:	
	(Ground Beef model segmented by location using a Continuous Price Variable)	37
Table	3: Estimated Coefficients For Model 3 - Non-segmented model:	
	(Specified for all respondents using Effects Coded Price Variable)	38
Table	4: Results of Log Likelihood Ratio Tests	39
Table	5: Beef Steak Scenario 1: (Alberta Origin - No Biopreservative versus Biopreservative)	40
Table	6: Beef Steak Scenario 2: (Canada Origin - No Biopreservative versus Biopreservative)	41
Table	7: Beef Steak Scenario 3: (No biopreservative - Alberta origin versus Canada origin)	42
Table	8: Beef Steak Scenario 4: (No biopreservative - Alberta origin versus USA origin)	43
Table	9: Pork Cut Scenario 1: (Alberta Origin - No Biopreservative versus Biopreservative)	44
Table	10: Pork Cut Scenario 2: (Canada Origin - No Biopreservative versus Biopreservative)	45
Table	11: Pork Cut Scenario 3: (No biopreservative - Alberta origin versus Canada origin)	46
Table	12: Pork Cut Scenario 4: (No biopreservative - Alberta origin versus USA origin)	47
Table	13: Ground Beef Scenario 1: (Alberta Origin - No Biopreservative versus Biopreservative	48
Table	14: Ground Beef Scenario 2: (Canada Origin - No Biopreservative versus Biopreservative	<b>4</b> 9
Table	15: Proportion of Respondents regarding Alternatives chosen in Stated Preference	
	(Alternatives A & B = Purchase; Alternative C = Non-purchase)	50

#### ABSTRACT

Recent food science research on packaging at the University of Alberta has focused on the use of biological agents (biopreservatives) to extend meat shelf life. This potential technology involves the introduction of microbial organisms into food packages to control or inhibit the growth of disease causing organisms such a *Escherichiacoli* (commonly associated with hamburger disease). Biopreservatives are not yet in commercial use. The study evaluated Western Canadian consumers' preferences regarding the potential use of biopreservatives in fresh red meat packages (beef and pork). The study also assessed the effect of product origin on consumers' purchasing decisions; in particular, whether there is an increasing or decreasing probability of purchase if a fresh meat product is labeled as a product of Alberta, product of Canada, product of United States or if no origin is displayed.

The researchobjectives were achieved through the collection and analysis of data from mailed survey questionnaires that included stated preference and scaling methodologies. The study used multinomial nested logit models to examine the potential effect of the identified product characteristics on the probability of a product being purchased. It is found that in aggregate, the potential use of biopreservatives in fresh meats packages is currently not acceptable to consumers, although many consumers are not opposed to research in this area. The price reductions required for consumer acceptance of a product packaged with a biopreservative are not currently feasible. The study also finds that Western Canadian consumers are generally loyal to meat products from Alberta and Canada as a whole, relative to fresh meat products sourced from the US or products without any indication of origin. For high quality beef products, Alberta is seen as a preferred source compared to other sources in Canada. Simulation results suggest that the price of beef cuts from other Canadian sources need to be reduced before consumers will be indifferent between that product and a beef cut from Alberta. On average, a price reduction of about 15 percent is required for a high quality beef product from other Canadian sources before consumers are indifferent to a Canadian labeled product versus an Alberta product. For a high quality pork cut and for ground beef, the study results indicate that consumers generally are indifferent between products from Alberta and products from other Canadian sources. Branding Alberta pork for export to other provinces does not appear to provide benefits at this time. A comparison of a US product and a product from Alberta suggests that the US product price would have to be reduced by at least 35 percent, whether for a beef cut or a pork cut, before consumers would be indifferent between these products from the two sources. There is a strong bias towards purchase of local product in meat consumption by Western Canadian consumers as long as the domestic product is perceived to be of the same quality as the US fresh meat product.

# **SUMMARY**

# <u>Consumer Preferences for Biopreservatives in Beef and Pork Packaging</u> and <u>Testing the Importance of Product Origin</u>

James Unterschultz, Kwamena Quagrainie and Michele Veeman, Department of Rural Economy, University of Alberta

This study evaluates Western Canadian consumers' preferences regarding the potential use of biopreservatives in the packaging of three specific fresh red meat products. Biopreservatives are not yet in commercial use. Recent food science research on packaging at the University of Alberta has focused on the use of biological agents (biopreservatives) to extend meat shelf life. This potential technology may reduce the costs of handling and merchandising meat by extending the shelf life of the packaged product. The technology involves the introduction of microbial organisms into food packages to control or inhibit the growth of disease causing organisms such as *Escherichia coli* (commonly associated with hamburger disease). The study also assesses the effect of product origin on consumers' purchasing decisions. In particular, one issue examined in the study is whether there is an increasing or decreasing probability of purchase if a fresh meat product is labeled as a product of Alberta, product of Canada, product of United States or if no origin is displayed. The research objectives are achieved through the collection and analysis of data from stated preference and scaling survey questionnaires.

Data for the study are obtained from a survey questionnaire administered in the four western provinces, namely, British Columbia, Alberta, Saskatchewan and Manitoba, in February and March, 1996. The questionnaire covered the following issues: consumers' concerns towards consumption of red meat, convenience of preparation, freshness, over all product quality, price, food safety, health issues as well as the biopreservative technology. Consumers' concerns related to the above issues were rated on a scale where 1 = strongly disagree, 2 = disagree, 3 = neither agree nor disagree, 4 = agree and 5 = strongly agree. Separate stated preference questions were asked pertaining to a high quality beef cut, a high quality pork cut and ground beef. The questions outlined different descriptions of each of the products and respondents were asked to choose from among three alternatives, i.e. alternative A, alternative B, and alternative C is to be chosen if neither descriptions of the product in alternatives A and B are preferred. Demographic factors such as family size, age and income were asked of each respondent.

Potential respondents were randomly selected from current local telephone directories and contacted by phone regarding participation in the survey. Respondents were chosen from the cities of Winnipeg, Regina, Edmonton and Victoria. Out of a total of 700 questionnaires sent to consumers, 530 questionnaires were returned; 125 from Winnipeg, 135 from Regina, 141 from Victoria and 129 from Edmonton. This represented an 76% response to the study. The analysis in the study incorporates the two methodological approaches of a scaling method and a stated preference method.

**Scaling Method** Ratings of responses to open ended questions of general issues involving convenience of preparation, freshness, over all product quality, price, food safety and health are examined to determine the issues of most concern to consumers. Respondents generally strongly indicated that the above issues were either important or of concern to them. For example, on the issue of speed and ease of meat preparation, 79% of respondents indicated that this was very important to them. The average rating on the importance of ease and convenience of meat preparation was 4 (very important). Regarding food safety, 87% of respondents agreed that drug residue, dyes and other inorganic substances in fresh meats are of concern to them. The average rating for food safety is 4.3 (very concerned). Respondents also indicated that price is important to them. Generally, 54% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed that beef was relatively expensive when compared to other meats. About 81% of respondents indicated they prefer or strongly prefer all the outside fat of a meat cut to be trimmed off. In response to a related question that was not scaled about 23% of survey respondents indicated that biopreservative research should be stopped; 35% indicated such research is a good idea and should continue while 42% had no opinion on this issue. Many respondents stated they needed more information on biopreservatives to evaluate the benefits of these.

**Stated Preference Method** Data elicited from this part of the questionnaire were tested using a multinomial non-linear nested logit model to examine the potential effect of the identified product and consumer characteristics on the probability of a product being purchased. Product characteristics evaluated include the price of the product, whether packaging includes biopreservatives, outside fat trim (or fat content), product origin and packaging date. Consumer characteristics that were examined include family size, age, and income group.

The results from this study indicate that consumers generally reacted negatively to adding biopreservatives to fresh meat products. Consumers prefer packages without any biopreservative. For example, estimated coefficients for the presence of biopreservative have a statistically significant negative sign which indicates that adding a biopreservative will decrease the probability of choosing that product. The use of biopreservatives in either fresh pork, fresh beef or hamburger results in a similar negative response from consumers. However, consumers in different cities do seem to view biopreservatives somewhat differently. The responding consumers in Winnipeg, Regina and Victoria were strongly opposed to the presence of biopreservatives in beef steak, pork cut and hamburger packages, but consumers in Edmonton were relatively indifferent to biopreservatives in fresh beef and pork packages.

Regarding the effects of product origin, products from Alberta and Canada are generally more preferred by consumers. Products of these regions evidently have a significant effect on the utility of the responding consumers since these origins increase the probability that consumers will purchase meat products from these sources. However, there is a significant difference in the effect of the two product origins regarding beef. For high quality beef steak, the effect of product-of-Alberta is stronger than the effect of product-of-Canada. For ground beef, the effect of product-of-Canada is stronger than the effect of Alberta. This suggests that there is no benefit to labeling ground beef as a product of Alberta. However, evidently Alberta has an image as a source of high quality beef cuts which could be utilized in marketing.

For high quality pock cuts, there is no significant difference in the effects of Alberta origin and Canadian origin on purchases. For consumers in Winnipeg, Regina and Victoria, there is also no benefit to labeling pork cuts as a product of Alberta. However, the reactions to fresh meat products that are labeled to be from the US and to products without an origin label were strongly negative.

The results of demographic factors in the stated preference models indicate that there is an increasing probability for a family of size 3 or less to purchase high quality beef cuts. Conversely, a family size of more than 6 has a decreased probability of purchasing beef steak. People of age 30 years and below have a higher probability of purchasing meat while those over 60 years have a decreased probability of purchasing meat products. Households with income of \$20,000 and less have a decreased probability of purchasing high quality beef products. Households with income of over \$50,000 have an increased probability of purchasing high quality beef products.

Simulations used the results of the estimated multinomial logit model to evaluate the value of biopreservatives and product origin by estimating the price change that would lead to a consumer having the same probability of choosing either of two competing products. The price change required can be viewed to represent an estimate of the dollar value of a product characteristic. For example, if a consumer is offered two products of the same quality labeled from two different sources, such as Alberta and Canada, it can be determined which product is most likely to be chosen. Then, from an Alberta point of view, it is possible to assess price changes to the competing product that will make consumers indifferent between a produced-in-Alberta product versus a produced-in-Canada product. These simulations were conducted based on the model results for (1) beef steak with a trace of visible fat and packaged today, (2) a pork cut that has no visible fat and packaged today and (3) ground beef that is extra lean (10% or less fat) and packaged fresh. A summary of the scenarios are as follows:

# Scenarios 1 & 2: Economic Evaluation of Biopreservatives: Comparing Products with biopreservative and without biopreservative

In scenario 1, two products of Alberta origin are compared; one is packaged with a biopreservative and the other without. Scenario 2 compares two products from Canada, one packaged with biopreservative and the other without. For all survey respondents, the probability of choosing a meat product without biopreservative is about twice the probability of choosing a meat product with biopreservative. The same finding is found for consumers in each of the cities surveyed except for Edmonton. Specifically, for beef steak and pork cuts with biopreservative, an average price reduction of about 16% and 21% respectively is required for consumers in Winnipeg, Regina and Victoria. Consumers in Edmonton appear to be indifferent to biopreservatives and therefore do not require any significant price change to encourage the choice of meat products with biopreservatives. Price reductions required for products with a biopreservative are particularly high for ground beef. For example, a price reduction of as much as 54% is required for Winnipeg consumers before consumers can be viewed as indifferent between the two products. Similarly, Regina consumers will be indifferent to biopreservatives in packaging with a price reduction of about 37% for ground beef. Such high dollar values suggest that the widespread introduction of biopreservatives is not currently feasible. A change in consumer attitude is apparently required for biopreservatie use in consumer packaging.

# Scenario 3: Economic Evaluation of Product of Alberta Labeling: Comparing Product Labeled as Product-of-Alberta versus Product Labeled as Product-of-Canada

Only beef steak and pork cuts are considered in this scenario. Generally, there is a relatively higher probability of choosing a high quality beef product from Alberta than from other sources considered in this study (Canada or US). For example, the probabilities of choosing a high quality beef steak from Alberta and from the rest of Canada are 30% and 17% respectively. A price reduction from 3 to 26 percent on beef products is required for products labeled as a product-of-Canada before consumers are indifferent to the purchase of an Alberta or Canadian product. This applies in all Western cities. For a pork cut, there is no significant difference between the probability of choosing a product from Alberta and a product from the rest of Canada, therefore price reductions required to equalize the probability of purchase are not appreciable. The price change required to obtain an equal probability of purchase of an Alberta product for a produced-in-Canada pork product is about -7.5 % or less. It appears there is little benefit to branding Alberta pork products with an Alberta-origin relative to Canadian-origin pork.

# Scenario 4: Economic Evaluation of Product of Alberta Labady: Comparing Product Labeled Product-of-Alberta versus other Labeled as Product-of-USA

This scenario evaluates the value of product origin for high quality beef and high quality pork products from Alberta relative to a similar product labeled as a product of the United States. Generally, the probability of choosing a product from Alberta is five times greater than that of choosing a product from the US. For beef steak, the price of the US product has to be reduced by more than 25% before consumers will have an equal probability of purchasing either product. For pork cuts, the US product requires an average price reduction of about 38% for all consumers to be indifferent between this and the Canadian product. There is a strong preference for either Alberta or Canadian beef products over similar US beef products. Branding beef products is definitely a potential marketing strategy in Canada relative to competing US beef cuts.

#### **Summary**

The study used advanced stated preference research methods to asceintaconsumers' attitudes to the potential use of biopreservatives in fresh meat packages and to the identification of the Alberta origin of fresh meat products in Western Canada. It is found that in aggregate, the potential use of biopreservatives in fresh meats packages is currently not acceptable to consumers, although many consumers are not opposed to research on this issue. The price reductions required for consumer acceptance of a product packaged with a biopreservative are not currently feasible. A concerted effort is required to educate consumers on this technology if it is to be accepted in the

market. Consumers in Edmonton are the only group indifferent to the technology and this reaction is probably due to the identified location of this research project and its association with the local University.

The study also finds that Western Canadian consumers are generally loyal to meat products from Alberta and Canada as a whole, relative to fresh meat products sourced from the US or products without any indication of origin. For high quality beef products, Alberta is seen as a preferred source compared to other sources in Canada. Simulation results suggest that the price of beef cuts from other Canadian sources need to be reduced before consumers will be indifferent between that product and a beef cut from Alberta. On average, a price reduction of about 15% is required for a high quality beef product from other Canadian sources before consumers are indifferent to a Canadian labeled product versus an Alberta product. This strongly suggests that Alberta has the ability to brand its beef in Western Canada. These results may extend to non-Western provinces but this issue is not explored in this study.

For a high quality pork cut and for ground beef, the study results indicate that consumers generally are indifferent between products from Alberta and products from other Canadian sources. Branding Alberta pork for export to other provinces does not appear to provide benefits at this time. A comparison of a US product and a product from Alberta suggests that the US product price would have to be reduced by at least 35 percent, whether for a beef cut or a pork cut, before consumers will be indifferent between these products from the two sources. There is a strong bias towards purchase of local product in meat consumption by Western Canadian consumers as long as the domestic product is of the same quality (or perceived to be of the same quality) as the US fresh meat product. This is useful information should there be exportation of fresh pork from the United States to Western Canada.

# **1.0. INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 Background

Consumption of meat in Canada has shown some appreciable changes since the mid-1970s. There is clear evidence that the demand for beef has trended downward over the past 20 years. Pork consumption has remained fairly constant. This phenomenon in the consumption of beef and pork has been attributed to changes in relative prices of meats (Alston and Chalfant 1990). Other researchers have attributed the decline in beef consumption and the apparent constant pork consumption trends to convenience of preparation and changes in lifestyle of consumers, including health-related factors (Capps et al. 1988; Menkhaus et al. 1988; Menkhaus et al. 1990; Schmitz and Nayga 1991; Eales 1993; Menkhaus et al. 1993). Generally however, consumers are increasingly reported to be more discriminating in their food product choices. They are demanding freshness, quality, convenience and novelty more than ever before, therefore packaging of products has become important in purchasing decisions. Traditional processing, packaging and distribution methods are not always perceived as meeting the demands of consumers for freshness, quality, convenience and variety (Agriculture Canada 1990).

As a result of the changing consumer preferences and in response to incentives to reduce processing and merchandising costs, new technologies are being pursued that seek to extend the shelf life of packaged food products. These include vacuum packaging (VP), where all the air within the package is removed to extend the shelf life of the product; controlled atmosphere packaging (CAP), where the atmosphere in a package is continuously controlled; and modified atmosphere packaging (MAP) technology, where the initial atmosphere inside a package is modified with the addition of a range of chemical compounds or gases. Recent food science research on packaging at the University of Alberta has focused on the use of biological agents (biopreservatives) to extend meat shelf life. The technology involves the introduction of microbial organisms into food packages to control or inhibit the growth of disease causing organisms such as Escherichia coli (commonly associated with hamburger disease. The biopreservative technology will allow fresh meat to remain packaged and stored for longer periods without loss in freshness or quality.

The potential benefits of the emerging technology of biopreservatives are also a food safety issue. The technology involves an introduction into fresh meat packages of a biological agent that

may be naturally occurring or bio-engineered. It is reported that 25% of consumers are concerned with preservatives or similar agents in food products while 22% are concerned with tampering with food products (Consumer Association of Canada 1990). This project assesses consumers' reactions to a biopreservative packaging technique, relative to other features of selected meat products. The project also seeks to evaluate the effects of product origin on consumers' purchasing decisions. Specifically, the project assesses the importance to consumers' purchasing attitudes of meat produced in Alberta, meat produced in Canada and meat produced in the United States. The fresh meat products examined in the study include beef, pork and ground beef. These are chosen for examination because they are of particular importance to the meat industry in Alberta, a major producer of beef and pork in Canada. Alberta is trying to enhance the image of Alberta-produced fresh meat products, both nationally and internationally, with the production of quality fresh beef and pork products.

#### 1.2. Research Objectives

This study assesses the importance of product attributes to consumers through a survey questionnaire. The questions concern a high quality beef cut, high quality pork cut and ground beef. The study includes consumers in major cities in Western Canada. The study's purpose is to:

- 1. evaluate consumers' preference for the potential use **bf**opreservatives in fresh red meat packages since biopreservatives are not yet in commercial use;
- 2. assess the effectiveness of product origin on consumer purchasing decisions; and
- 3. relate the results of the study to domestic market prospects facing Alberta's and Canada's cattle and hog industries with the introduction of new packaging technologies to improve the shelf life of fresh meat.

These objectives are pursued through analysis of data and information from survey questionnaires. Separate econometric models are specified for high quality beef and pork as well as ground beef to assess the potential effects of biopreservatives and the effects of product origin. Estimated coefficients from the econometric models are used to calculate probabilities of choosing meat products based on the presence or absence of a biopreservative in a package and also calculate probabilities of purchasing a product based on product origin. Based on these estimated probabilities, it is assessed by how much price must change before consumers are indifferent between choosing two products, with and without a biopreservative, or between choosing products

from different origins. The price change measure represents an estimate of the dollar value of the biopreservative technology or the dollar value of the product origins considered in the survey.

#### **1.3.** Benefits of the Study

The results provide information regarding attributes of fresh red meats preferred by consumers in major Western Canadian cities. Information on consumers' perceptions of biopreservatives is expected to be useful in directing packaging and biopreservatives research in fresh meat packages. This information will help direct strategies regarding the introduction of the technology into the market. This is of particular importance to the Alberta beef and pork industry because this information will be useful in guiding commodity merchandising strategies and product development of fresh beef and pork in Alberta and the other western provinces. Information on product origin obtained in the study indicates consumers' preference for selected meat products that are produced-in-Alberta, produced-in-Canada, and produced-in-the United States.

The results from the study indicates that introduction of the biopreservative technology in the market is currently not commercially feasible. The strong rejection of biopreservatives by consumers suggests that prior consumer education on the technology is required before its introduction. As well, pork cuts labeled as produced-in-Alberta are not preferred to pork cuts labeled as produced-in-Canada by consumers in Winnipeg, Regina and Victoria. This suggests that changes to pork product labeling and promotional programs are necessary to promote Alberta pork products in other Western Canadian cities. However, consumers show a strong preference for beef labeled as produced-in-Alberta. Evidently, Alberta has an image as a source of high quality beef cuts which can be utilized in marketing. Generally, the value consumers place on product origin will be useful in directing market entry strategies for new products and market expansion for fresh red meats.

The remaining parts of the report provide an outline of the methodology used for the analysis, the experimental design and then a discussion of the results. Several conclusions are drawn from the results and given in the concluding section. A copy of the survey instrument can be found in Appendix III.

### **2.0. THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK**

#### 2.1. Overview of previous studies

This section gives an overview of previous studies on factors influencing consumers' purchasing intentions for beef and the methodologies used in these studies. Both consumer and product attributes have been examined in previous studies. Some studies have used variations of conjoint analysis. Examples of such conjoint techniques are the "revealed preference" and the "stated preference" methods. These methods are briefly discussed in the following sections. Stated preference techniques are applied in this study along with selected types of rating/scaling questions.

#### 2.2. Revealed Preference and Scaling Methods

The revealed preference approach involves direct observation of choices made by consumers and then comparison of the observed choices to the rejected alternatives. Inferences can be made about consumers' preferences based on these choices. In effect, the comparison of the chosen alternatives with the rejected ones reveals the preferences of the consumer. Capps et al. (1988) use such a technique to study the importance of consumers' characteristics in beef purchasing decisions. By asking respondents to rank their choice of three types of beef packages, it was determined that age, education level, household size and predisposition to buying low-fat foods were consumer characteristics relevant to beef purchasing decisions. Contrary to Capps et al. (1988), Menkhaus et al. (1988), using a similar analytical technique, conclude that age, education, total family income, household size, type of residence and other demographic characteristics do not have any significant influence on either the probability of purchasing or reordering a branded, low-fat, fresh beef product. Menkhaus et al. (1988) however, found health related factors such as trim, fat content and visual characteristics to be very important. Schmitz and Nayga (1991), did not find demographic variables to play a major role in determining consumers' perceptions of meat products.

The studies noted above applied revealed preference techniques by examini**r**gf**p**rence structures of consumers expressed by rank ordering or scaling. A scaling approach can also be used to develop profiles for consumer attitudes and product attributes and to develop total scores

by which these factors can be compared. The scaling method entails scaling preferences or behavior. Depending on the order of scaling, relatively higher or lower ratings are taken to indicate preferred product attributes or dominant consumer behavior. For example, Pelzer et al. (1991) use a ranking technique to examine some factors influencing consumer preference for retail beef packaging. Respondents were asked to rank steaks and roasts in three different package types: over-wrapped styrofoam tray, vacuum skin package (VSP), and VSP with the meat exposed to carbon monoxide prior to vacuum packaging. Results from this study suggest that consumers have a high preference for VSP with carbon monoxide, followed by over wrapped styrofoam tray and then VSP.

Capps, Moen and Branson (1988) used the scaling **rtheod** to examine the attitude of consumers toward price and toward purchasing low fat foods during grocery shopping. Respondents were asked to rank these attitudes on a 7-point scale of 1 = extremely price conscious or fat conscious to 7 = not at all price or fat conscious. They report the average ranking of 2.75 for price consciousness and 2.94 for fat consciousness indicating consumers tend to be very price and fat conscious during grocery shopping.

The study reported here employs the scaling method **iw**o parts of the analysis to evaluate consumer attitudes to fresh meat and biopreservatives.

#### 2.3. The Stated Preference Method

Generally, the revealed preference technique has the advantage of revealing the preferences of consumers from their rankings or from rejected alternatives based on peoples' observed market behavior. However, the limitations with this procedure are that it can be difficult to obtain sufficient variation in the revealed preference data to examine all variables of interest. This procedure cannot be used in a direct way to evaluate demand under conditions which do not yet exist (Louviere 1994). As Wilkie and Pessemier (1973) have observed, many revealed preference models draw upon a "build-up" approach in which the total utility for some multi-attribute product is found as a weighted sum of the product's perceived attribute levels and associated value ratings, as separately judged by the respondent. In contrast, more recent techniques move beyond the examination of preference structures to direct examination of hypothetical choice processes. These are based on a decompositional approach, in which respondents react to a set of "total" profile descriptions. One such technique is the stated preference method which is applied in this study. Details of this method are outlined below.

The stated preference method (SPM), also referred to as experimental or stated choice analysis, involves asking respondents for their hypothetical or discrete choices, rather than for their preferences expressed by rank ordering or scaling. Questions are put in a behavioral choice context ("if you were to have these alternatives available to you, which one would you choose?"). This method is relatively easy to control because it allows explicit definitions of the conditions or factors which are being evaluated by the respondents. It is also flexible (being capable of dealing with a wider variety of variables), and it is cheap to apply. Louviere (1994), suggests that the SPM has good predictive ability.

Against these advantages, there is the potential disadvantage that people may not necessarily do what they say. The other issue is whether a respondent to whom a set of alternate options has been described can adequately evaluate these by expressing his/her preferences properly on the measurement scale that is used. Despite these potential disadvantages, the stated preference model has been used extensively in empirical work. Examples are its use in examining choice of travel, environmental amenities, and recreational facilities (see for example Ben-Akiva and Lerman 1987; Kroes and Sheldon 1988; Hensher, Barnard and Truong 1988; Mcleod, Boxall and Adamowicz 1993; Adamowicz et al. 1994a, 1994b; Louviere 1994).

#### 2.3.1. Stated Preference: Analytical Framework

The stated preference method is based on economic principles. A choice among alternatives (discrete choices) can be modeled in a random utility framework. With a definition of the attributes and the levels that are being evaluated, a utility function can be specified, expressing the hypothesis about the way in which individual respondents combine their part-utilities into an overall evaluation or preference. Following Ben-Akiva and Lerman (1987), Kolstad and Braden (1991), Louviere (1994), and Adamowicz et al. (1994a), a general random utility function, in terms of attributes can be expressed as;

$$U_{in} = V(X_{in}) + (X_{in}) \tag{1}$$

where  $U_{in} = person n$ 's utility of choosing alternative,

V = indirect utility,

 $X_{in} = a$  vector of attribute values for alternative as viewed by respondent, and  $\varepsilon = a$  random element.

Total utility,  $U_n$  is a sum of observable and unobservable components which can also be expressed as  $V_n$  and  $\varepsilon_n$  respectively. The utilities are not known with certainty and are treated

as random variables. From this perspective, the choice probability of alternatives equal to the probability that the utility of alternative,  $U_{in}$ , is greater than or equal to the utilities of all other alternatives in the choice set. This can be written as follows:

$${}_{n}(i) = Pr\left[V_{in} + {}_{in} \geq V_{jn} + {}_{jn}; all \ j \in C_{n}\right]$$

$$\tag{2}$$

where  $C_n = \text{choice set for respondent}$ .

Assuming that all the disturbances $\varepsilon_{in}$ , are independently, identically, and Gumbeldistributed with a scale paramete $\mu > 0$ , then the probability of choosing an alternative is expressed as:

$${}_{n}(i) = \frac{\exp[V_{in}]}{\sum_{j} \exp[V_{jn}]}$$
(3)

Assuming that V<sub>n</sub> is linear-in-parameters, the functional form can be expressed as:

 $V_{in} = {}_{1} + {}_{2} \chi_{in2} + ... + {}_{k} \chi_{ink}$  (4)

where,

 $V_{in}$  = respondent n's utility of choosing alternative

 $x_{ink}$  = kth attribute values for alternative as viewed by respondent.

 $\beta$ 1,  $\beta$ 2 to  $\beta$ k are coefficients to be estimated.

If a single vector of coefficient $\beta$  that applies to all the utility functions is defined ant the scale parameter  $\mu$ =1 then equation(3) can be expressed as:

$${}_{n}(i) = \frac{\exp[{'X_{in}}]}{\sum_{j} \exp[{'X_{jn}}]}$$
(5)

where,

 $\pi_n$  (i) = Respondent n's choice probability of alternative

 $X_{in}$  and  $X_{jn}$  = vectors describing the attributes of alternative and *j*, and

 $\beta$  = vector of coefficients.

In experimental design, decision attributes <sup>i</sup>Xare termed "factors", and the values that each factor takes on in the experiment are called "levels." The functional form expressed in equation (4) is additive and indicates that the factors are independent in their respective effects on consumer utility. It is assumed that interaction effects are negligible and therefore only main effects are assessed.

The discrete choice or general multinomial logit model outlined above is used in this study to analyze the data from the survey questionnaire. Alternatives, factors and factor levels specific to this study are discussed in the next chapter. The next chapter also gives a description of the survey questionnaire, the survey method and the estimated models as well as the estimation procedure.

# **3.0. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY**

#### **3.1. Research Procedure**

In this section, the econometric models are outlined. This involves explaining the general specification regarding choices relating to study area, variables, survey method and functional form.

#### 3.2. Study Area

Since Alberta is a major producer of beef and exports this to most parts of the country, the study should ideally cover Canadian consumers in general. However, due to financial constraints, the study is limited to the four western provinces, namely, British Columbia, Alberta, Saskatchewan and Manitoba. The provincial capitals were selected as representative of consumers in each province and a random sample of consumers in each city was chosen with the aid of a market research firm.

#### **3.3.** Product Characteristics or Attributes

Considering the objectives of the study, the attributes of price, product origin and presence of biopreservatives were automatically chosen for the study. Further characteristics or attributes needed for the study were chosen from a preliminary survey on meat attributes. A sample of 20 consumers was randomly selected in the Edmonton area and each person was asked to indicate the level of importance of a selected number of meat attributes in their meat purchasing decisions. The levels of significance were specified as "not important", "important" and "very important". The factors of fat trim and packaging date had the highest score as "very important" and so were included in the major study, in addition to product price, product origin and product packaging, specifically, packaging with and without biopreservatives. The cited levels for the attributes were obtained from various sources. Price levels were obtained from a series of quotations from retail grocery stores such as IGA, Safeway, Super Store and Save-on-Foods. The meat managers of these stores also provided useful information regarding fat trim levels and packaging dates. Some information on fat trim for steak and pork cut as well as fat content of ground beef were obtained from the Department of Food Science and Nutrition, University of Alberta.

For a high quality beef cut, product attributes used in the study include price, presence of biopreservatives, product origin, outside fat trim level and packaging date. For a high quality pork

cut, attributes used in the study are price, presence of biopreservatives, product origin, outside fat trim level and packaging date. For ground beef, attributes used include price, presence of biopreservatives, product origin, fat content and packaging date. Each of these factors and the respective levels for each meat type are presented in Appendix I.

#### **3.4.** The Questionnaire

A fractional factorial experiment was designed involving all possible combinations of the factor levels. The design produced a sample of 32 treatments selected from the complete factorial design. The 32 treatments obtained for each meat type formed the basis of the questionnaire. To avoid a lengthy questionnaire, the 32 questions were blocked into 4 section, providing 8 questions on each meat type per questionnaire. This resulted in 4 different versions of the questionnaire covering all 32 questions for each meat type. The final questionnaire consisted of three parts.

Part A consisted of introductorystatements on consumers eating habits and attitudes regarding meats. These questions probe the direction and intensity of consumers' attitudes towards consumption of red meat, convenience of preparation, freshness, over all product quality, price, food safety and health issues. The statements were assigned a rating of 1 = strongly disagree, 2 = disagree, 3 = neither agree nor disagree, 4 = agree and 5 = strongly agree. Respondents indicated which rating best described their acceptance of the statement. Only one choice from the ratings was to be made for each statement. These questions are presented in Appendix III which provides an example of the questionnaire.

Part B of the survey is made up of 8 stated preference questions for each of a high quality beef cut, a high quality pork cut and ground beef, generating a total of 24 questions. The questions provide different descriptions of the product and respondents were asked to choose from among three alternatives, i.e. alternative A, alternative B, and alternative C. Alternatives A and B contain different profiles of the product relating to the factors. It is assumed that the descriptions of the factors will affect the consumer's perceptions of the product and ultimately translate into a decision to purchase or not to purchase the specified products. The inclusion of a non-choice, alternative C, which is to be chosen if neither description of the product in alternative. Louviere (1988), explains that the base alternative acts as a constant subtracted from the utilities of the other alternatives. Hence, the design properties of the factor treatments (e.g., orthogonality of factor vectors) are unaffected unless the factor levels of the base vary across choice sets. Example questions are presented in Appendix III.

Part C of the questionnaire is the section on demographic factors such as family size, age and income. It also contains a question asking respondents to indicate their opinion on the

biopreservative research. There is also a question on how frequently respondents eat beef, pork, poultry and fish/sea food. The questionnaire was pretested and adjusted accordingly.

#### 3.5. Survey Method

The mail back method of survey was employed in this study. The questionnaire was administered by a commercial market research firm. Potential respondents were randomly selected from current local telephone directories and contacted by phone regarding participation in the survey. Respondents were chosen from Winnipeg, Regina, Edmonton and Victoria. A total of 700 respondents agreed to participate in the survey and were mailed copies of the survey questionnaire for completion. Each mailed questionnaire also included an introductory letter explaining the objective of the study. It was explained that the questionnaire was directed to the individual in the household who made the majority of meat purchases. Completed questionnaires were returned in an enclosed stamped self addressed envelope.

To encourage a high response rate, a reminder letter was sent to those respondents who had not returned their completed questionnaire 14 days after the initial mailing. Eventually, out of a total of 700 questionnaires sent to consumers, 530 questionnaires were returned; 125 of those are from Winnipeg, 135 from Regina, 141 from Victoria and 129 from Edmonton. This represented a 76% response to the study.

#### **3.6.** Model Specification Estimation Procedure

Information provided from the stated preference questions of the survey (Part B) were used as the data to estimate a multinomial nested logit (discrete choice) model to assess the impact on consumers' choice of each specified attribute. In all models the inclusive value was significantly different from 1 indicating a nesting structure. The nesting incorporated in this model assumes that there are two levels of the purchasing decision process. The first level is the decision as to whether to purchase or not to purchase a meat product. The first level decision is not based on any factors, however after the decision to purchase is taken, a choice is made between two products A and B based on the specified attributes. Alternative C is the choice if products A and B are not preferred.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A copy of the introductory letter to respondents is provided in Appendix II

The specifications for alternatives A and B (the decision to purchase a particular specified product) incorporate the attribute levels of price, presence of biopreservative, fat trim (fat content), origin of product and packaging date.Dummy variables, (-1, +1), are used to effects-code the factor levels so that the base alternative C, will be exactly equal to the origin i.e. for any occurrence of the omitted variable, the included variables are coded -1, (see Louviere 1988 and Johnson et al. 1987 for detailed discussion on effects codingOne factor level of each attribute is omitted in the estimation procedure to avoid singularitFor alternatives A and B, estimated coefficients on the attribute levels are to be interpreted as the effect of the attribute level on the probability of a product being purchased (equation 5). Hence a positive (negative) coefficient on a factor means that the factor has an effect of increasing (decreasing) the probability of a product being purchased by consumers.

For alternative C (the decision of non-purchase of the product), the specifications use demographic factors of family size, age, and income groupDummy variables, (-1, 1), are also used to effects-code the factor levels and one level is omitted to avoid a dummy variable trap. Estimated coefficients on these demographic factors are to be interpreted as the effect of the factor on the probability of a product not being purchased. Hence, a positive (negative) coefficient on a factor means that increasing the level of the factor increases (decreases) the probability of non-purchase. A decrease in the probability of non-purchase implies an increase in the probability of purchase.

Separate models are estimated for high quality beef cuts, high quality pork catsd ground beef. For each of these meat types, a model is specified for all respondents using the attributes of actual continuous price, presence of biopreservative, origin, fat level, package date as well as demographic factors of family size, age and income group. This is estimated as Model I. The same specification of each meat type is also made for each location of the respondents; i.e. for Winnipeg, Regina, Victoria and Edmonton. The purpose is to examine the effects of the factors by location and to test the location differences, if any, in the effects of the variables. These location specifications are estimated as Model II. In order to examine the effects of each of the price levels on the probability of purchase, a third model (Model III) is estimated in which the price factor is effects-coded as for the other product attributes. The estimating models are presented below.

#### Model 1: No

where

Non-segmented Model with Demographic Factors (Continuous Price Variable)

$$U_{t}(A) = U_{t}(B) = {}^{*}_{1t} X^{*}_{1t} + \sum_{k=1}^{2} {}_{2kt} X_{2kt} + \sum_{k=1}^{4} {}_{3kt} X_{3kt} + \sum_{k=1}^{4} {}_{4kt} X_{4kt} + \sum_{k=1}^{4} {}_{5kt} X_{5kt} + {}_{t}$$
(6a)

$$U_{t}(C) = \sum_{k=1}^{3} {}_{6kt}X_{6kt} + \sum_{k=1}^{4} {}_{7kt}X_{7kt} + \sum_{k=1}^{4} {}_{8kt}X_{8kt} + {}_{t}$$
(6b)

U(A), U(B), U(C) = utility of choosing alternatives A, B and C respectively,

 $X_{1t}^*$  = actual continuous price variable for meat type,

 $X_{2kt}$  = biopreservative levek in packaging of meat type,

 $X_{3kt}$  = product origin labelk of meat typet,

 $X_{4kt}$  = fat trim (or content) levek of meat type*t*,

 $X_{5kt}$  = package date *k* of meat type *t*,

 $X_{6kt}$  = family size categoryk of respondents choosing meat type,

 $X_{7kt}$  = age group k of respondents choosing meat type,

 $X_{8kt}$  = income groupk of respondents choosing meat type, and

 $\varepsilon_i$  = error term specific to each alternative choice (A, B or C) and

t = meat type (high quality beef, high quality pork or ground beef).

The equations for all of the three meat types are jointly estimated. This permits testing whether coefficients are different among meat types.

# <u>Model 2</u>: Segmented Model by Location with Demographic Factors (Continuous Price Variable)

$$U(A) = U(B) = {}^{*}_{1tl} X^{*}_{1tl} + \sum_{k=1}^{2} {}_{2ktl} X_{2ktl} + \sum_{k=1}^{4} {}_{3ktl} X_{3ktl} + \sum_{k=1}^{4} {}_{4ktl} X_{4ktl} + \sum_{k=1}^{4} {}_{5ktl} X_{5ktl} + {}_{l}$$
(7a)

$$U(C) = \sum_{k=1}^{3} {}_{6k \ tl} X_{6k \ tl} + \sum_{k=1}^{4} {}_{7k \ tl} X_{7k \ tl} + \sum_{k=1}^{4} {}_{8k \ tl} X_{8k \ tl} + {}_{l}$$
(7b)

where  $X_{1tl}^* = \text{actual continuous price variable of meat type as viewed by respondents in location$ *l*,

 $X_{2ktl}$  = biopreservative levek in packaging of meat type as viewed by respondents in location *l*,

 $X_{3ktl}$  = product origin labelk of meat typet as viewed by respondents in location

 $X_{4ktl}$  = fat trim (or content) levek of meat type *t* as viewed by respondents in location *l*,

 $X_{5ktl}$  = package date *k* of meat type *t* as viewed by respondents in location

 $X_{6ktl}$  = family size categoryk of respondents living in location,

 $X_{7ktl}$  = age group k of respondents living in location,

 $X_{8ktl}$  = income groupk of respondents living in location and

l =location of respondent (Winnipeg, Regina, Victoria or Edmonton).

All other variables are as defined earlier. The above specifications are estimated separately for each meat type but models for each city are jointly estimated. This has the advantage of providing a means of testing whether coefficients on the meat attributes are significantly different between locations for a specific meat type.

#### Model 3: Non-segmented Model with Demographic Factors (Price Effects Coded)

$$U(A) = U(B) = \sum_{k=1}^{4} {}_{1kt} X_{1kt} + \sum_{k=1}^{2} {}_{2kt} X_{2kt} + \sum_{k=1}^{4} {}_{3kt} X_{3kt} + \sum_{k=1}^{4} {}_{4kt} X_{4kt} + \sum_{k=1}^{4} {}_{5kt} X_{5kt} + {}_{t}$$
(8a)

$$U(C) = \sum_{k=1}^{3} {}_{6kt} X_{6kt} + \sum_{k=1}^{4} {}_{7kt} X_{7kt} + \sum_{k=1}^{4} {}_{8kt} X_{8kt} + {}_{t}$$
(8b)

where  $X_{1kt}$  = coded price levek of meat typet.

All other variables are as previously defined. In this studyequals 1, 2, 3 for beef steak, pork cut and ground beef respectively. The levels of each factor, are presented in Appendix I. The locations where the study was conducted are Winnipeg, Regina Victoria and Edmonton.

Estimated coefficients from all three models are tested across the meat types to evaluate whether the effects of the attributes and demographic factors vary across meat type. A test is also conducted to examine any difference in the effects on the probability of purchasing a product from Alberta versus products from the rest of Canada. In addition, coefficients in Model II are also tested to see if the effects of product attributes and demographic factors vary across location.

Finally, using differ**a**t scenarios, results from Models I and II are used to determine the value of biopreservatives and product origin. Probabilities of product choice under the various scenarios are calculated to assess which product is most likely to be purchased given products with or without biopreservatives or products from different origins. Then the price change of a product that would make consumers indifferent to the competing product is examined. The non-linear logit procedure of the statistical program Limdep 7.0 (Greene, 1995) was used for estimation of the multinomial logit models.

# 4.0. FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION

#### 4.1. Introduction

This chapter presents results from the study. The multinomial logit model results are first outlined and discussed. Emphasis is placed on biopreservatives and product origin. There is also a discussion on the findings on demographic factors and their effects on consumer meat purchasing decisions. A summary of the demographic characteristics of respondents are presented in figures following the discussion.

#### 4.2. Red Meat Consumption

Data used in the study were obtained from respondents who purchase and consume red meat. Based on responses from the supplementary question on frequency of meat and fish/sea food consumption (Part C question 5), over 76% of respondents indicate they consume red meat quite frequently (Figures 1a to 1e). Results are also presented for each location. From the stated preference portion of the questionnaire (Part B), 63% of respondents chose to select a product from the two descriptions provided while 37% chose neither of the two alternative products described In terms of location, a relatively higher percentage of respondents from Winnipeg, Regina and Edmonton chose a product, compared to respondents in Victoria.

#### 4.3. Stated Preference Results and Related Scaling Results

Tables 1 to 3 present analytical results for the stated preference data. Table 1 presents estimated coefficients for Model 1 which is the unsegmented model for each meat type. All the respondents are examined together in this model using a continuous price variable. Tables 2a to 2c present the results of estimated coefficients for the segmented model for beef steak, pork cut and ground beef respectively. In this model, respondents are segmented into city or location of respondents. The price variable is continuous. Table 3 (model 3) presents the results of the unsegmented model using effects coded price variable. Table 4 presents the results of the log

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Table 15.

likelihood tests for the 3 models. These results indicate that in all three models, the specified attributes are jointly important in affecting consumer utility for purchasing meat products. In all three models, the Pseudo Rstatistics indicate a reasonable measure of goodness-of-fit. The inclusive values for the decision to purchase a product are significantly less than one, suggesting that a nested logit model is an appropriate model specification for the consumers' decision process regarding the purchase of beef steak, pork cut and ground beef (Ben-Akiva and Lerman 1987).

#### 4.3.1. Adding Biopreservatives to fresh meat packages

The results in Tables 1 to 3 indicate that consumers reacted negatively to adding biopreservatives to fresh meat products. Estimated coefficients on this factor are negative and statistically significant in all the models evaluated. Consumers prefer packages without any biopreservative. Tests were conducted on the estimated coefficients on biopreservatives to examine any differences in the effects with respect to meat type. These results indicate that there is no statistically significant difference in the effect of biopreservative on the probability of purchasing a high quality beef, high quality pork and ground beef. The effect of biopreservative is similar for all three meat types. For example, from Table 1, estimated coefficients on the presence of biopreservative are -0.312, -0.371 and -0.266 for beef steak, pork cut and ground beef respectively. The negative coefficient indicates a decreasing probability of choice. A similar finding can be seen from estimated coefficients in Table 3.

However, from Tables 2a to 2c, when tests are conducted across locations for each meat type, results indicate that there is some statistically significant difference in the effects of biopreservatives. Respondents in different locations appear to view biopreservatives differently. For example, the estimated coefficients for beef steak are -0.409, -0.541, -0.336 and -0.007 for Winnipeg, Regina , Victoria and Edmonton respectively (Table 2a). The estimated coefficient for Edmonton is not statistically significant implying that while respondents from Winnipeg, Regina and Victoria are strongly opposed to the presence of biopreservatives in beef steak packages, Edmonton respondents may be indifferent to the issue. Similar results are obtained for the high quality pork cut. For both beef steak and pork cut, Regina respondents show the strongest rejection of biopreservatives in fresh meat packages while Edmonton shows the least rejection.

Responses to questions from Part A and Part C of the questionnaire regarding research on biopreservatives and related subjects are consistent with these findings, though these questions are stated in an entirely different format. For example, in Part A statement 6, respondents were asked to indicate their acceptance of the statement, "the presence of drug residue, dyes and other inorganic substances in fresh meats are of concern to me." On this statement, 87 % of respondents agree or strongly agree, 9% neither agree nor disagree and 4% disagree. Using a scale of 1 to 5 to rate the extent of acceptance of the statement, the average rating for all respondents is 4.3. For each location, the average rating is about the same (see Figure 2a). In Part C question number 4, respondents were asked to indicate their opinion on the research on biopreservatives. Over all respondents, 23% indicate the research should be stopped; 35% indicate the research is a good project and should continue; and 42% have no opinion on the issue. When the sample is separated by location, 25% or more of respondents indicate the research should be stopped (see figure 3). Comments written by respondents indicate that they need more information on the merits and demerits of the use of biopreservatives. Selected comments are presented in Appendix IV. Consumers lack information on biopreservatives and further information on the technology is required.

#### 4.3.2. Origin of the Product

From the stated preference results in Tables 1 to 3, meat products from Alberta and Canada are generally more preferable to responding consumers than products from the other specified regions. The preferred regions have a significant effect on the utility of consumers since they increase the probability that consumers will purchase meat products from these sources. In the segmented beef steak model (Table 2a), estimated coefficients on Canada origin for respondents from Regina and Edmonton suggest that high quality beef from the rest of Canada does not have any significant effect on the utility of these respondents. Similarly, for Winnipeg respondents, ground beef from Alberta does not significantly increase their utility (Table 2c).

A test was conducted to examine any differences in the effects of product-of-Alberta versus product-of-Canada on the probability of purchasing a meat product. A test of coefficients from Tables 1 and 3 (all respondents) indicate that there is a statistically significant difference in the effect of the two product origins. The effect of product-of-Alberta is stronger than the effect of product-of-Canada for high quality beef. For example, from Table 1, the estimated coefficient for product-of-Alberta for beef steak is 0.879 but the corresponding coefficient for product-of-Canada is 0.304. The same phenomenon can be seen from testing coefficients from Table 3 and also from the locationally segmented model versions (Tables 2a to 2c). It appears that generally, Alberta is

well known as a source of high quality beef. Only Winnipeg estimated coefficients do not show a statistically significant difference between the two product sources for beef steak.

In contrast, tests of differences between estimated coefficients for Alberta and Canada origin of a high quality pork cut do not show a statistically significant difference between the two sources, except for Edmonton. This suggests that consumers typically do not prefer pork from a particular source in Canada. Consumers in Winnipeg, Regina and Victoria appear indifferent between pork from Alberta and the rest of Canada but Edmonton consumers show a strong preference for pork from Alberta to pork from the rest of Canada. This finding may arise since each province has a well established pork industry and consumers may not necessarily prefer pork cuts from other provinces. The reaction of respondents to products from the US and products without an origin identification were negative and usually statistically significant. This suggests that meat products without origin identification reduce the utility of consumers and will reduce the probability of such products being purchased by consumers.

#### 4.3.3. Price and other Product Attributes

Estimated coefficients on (continuous) prices were all negative and statistically significant indicating consumers show a strong preference for lower prices. This is also the case for the results from Model 3 (Table 3) where the price levels are coded. From Model 3, the reaction to relatively higher prices is strongly negative; similarly, the reaction to relatively lower prices is strongly positive.

Fat trim and fat content of products are also of concern to consumers. Fat trim of about a quarter inch or more is strongly rejected by consumers for beef steak and pork cut, probably due to the belief that there are health risks of consuming large amounts of foods containing high levels of saturated fats,. Similarly, fat content of over 23% in ground beef is strongly rejected. Consumers appear to prefer beef steak with no visible fat and beef steak with a trace of outside fat trim; pork cut with no outside fat trim and extra lean and regular lean ground beef are also preferred. Any product packaged two or more days earlier is also strongly rejected. Consumers evidently prefer freshly packaged meats.

#### 4.3.4. Socioeconomic Factors

Tables 1 to 3 also presents estimated coefficients on respondents' socioeconomic factors incorporated in the specifications for alternativ $\mathcal{C}$  (no purchase). As indicated earlier, for alternative *C* (decision to not purchase the product), a positive (negative) coefficient implies that the factor has the effect of increasing (decreasing) the probability of non-purchase of the product. An increase (decrease) in the probability of non-purchase implies a decrease (increase) in the probability of purchase of a product.

The effect of family size is consistent in the beef models examined. For example, all estimated coefficients for a family size of 3 or less and family size of 4 to 6 are negative and statistically significant in the high quality beef model (Tables 1 and 2a). In the models for ground beef, estimated coefficients on family size of 3 or less are mostly negative and statistically significant (Table 1 and 2c). These indicate that there is an increased probability for a relatively small family of 3 or less to purchase beef. Conversely, all estimated coefficients on family size 6 or more in the high quality beef models are positive and statistically significant (Tables 1 and 2a). This implies that a family size of more than 6 has a lower probability of purchasing beef. These findings apply both to aggregate consumers as well as to consumers in the various city locations. These results may be related to the relatively higher price of high quality beef products. Beef steaks are higher priced than many other meat products so it may be economically feasible for a relatively smaller family size to purchase high quality beef products compared to a family of larger size. A small size household may be able to purchase such high quality beef products regularly compared to a large household. Regarding the probability of purchasing high quality pork, the survey results are not as consistent as for high quality beef. For the aggregate consumer, a family size of 4 or less has an increased probability of purchasing pork cuts while there is a decreased probability for a family size of 6 or more to purchase pork cuts. In the location-segmented models, the findings for pork vary with these locations.

The effects of age are consistent in all models for high quality beef, high quality pork and ground beef. For all the meat types, the results from both the non-segmented and segmented models indicate that people of age 30 years and below have a higher probability of purchasing meat products.(Tables 1 to 2c). Only Winnipeg consumers are exceptions to these general results for beef steak and pork cuts (Tables 2a and 2b). Except for Winnipeg consumers, the estimated coefficients on the age group that is less than 30 years and for the age group 30 to 40 years generally have a negative sign and are statistically significant for all products. Also except for

Winnipeg consumers, estimated coefficients for age groups of 40 years and above generally have a positive sign, indicating a decreasing probability of purchasing meat. The finding that people of age above 40 years have a decreased probability of purchasing meat products may be health-related because Capps et. al. (1988) report that consumers older than 30 years of age were more likely to try lean meat products than consumers from 20 - 29 years of age. Older people may be more health conscious in their eating habits than younger people and in view of the medical belief that meats contain saturated fats, which are viewed as primary causes of heart problems, it is expected that older people will tend to prefer less meat products.

Regarding the effects of income, there is some consistency on the **pabli**ity of purchasing meat in the effect of families with income of \$20,000 and less. In all high quality beef and pork models, estimated coefficients on this income group have a positive sign and most are statistically significant. This suggests that consumers in this income group have an increased probability of not purchasing high quality beef or high quality pork cut. Families with income of over \$50,000 have an increased probability of purchasing high quality beef. The estimated coefficients for this income group are negative and statistically significant in the high quality beef models (Tables 1 and 2a).

#### 4.4. Simulation Results

The results from Models 1 and 2 (Tables 1 to 2c) are used to evaluate the value of biopreservatives and product origin. It is assumed that the price change that will lead to a consumer having the same probability of choosing either of two competing products represents an estimate of the dollar value of the biopreservative use or of product origin. A consumer having an equal probability of choosing two products is indifferent between the two products. For example, if a consumer is offered two products of the same quality labeled from two different sources, such as from Alberta and Canada, it can be determined which product is most likely to be chosen, using equation (5). Then, from an Alberta point of view, it is possible to assess price changes to the Alberta product that will make consumers indifferent to the two products, i.e. that will give an equal probability of purchasing a produced-in-Alberta product versus a produced-in-Canada product. The implicit assumption here is that only two products are available to consumers to choose from.

This type of analysis provides information that can be used to direct market penetration and pricing strategies. A biopreservative-packaged technology will be new to the market and its introduction may require pricing strategies for many consumers to be indifferent to the new technology. That is, if consumers are found to have negative preferences for biopreservatives in fresh meat packages, this type of analysis will provide an estimate of the amount of price reduction that may be required for consumers to be indifferent to the new product.

The simulations are conducted by comparing meat products with and without biopreservatives and by comparing products from Alberta versus products from Canada and products from Alberta versus products from the US. For beef steak, estimated coefficients indicate that a product with trace of visible fat, packaged today, with no biopreservative is more acceptable to consumers. This product profile is chosen for the simulation analysis (Tables 5 to 8). For pork, a product that has no visible fat, packaged today and has no biopreservative is more acceptable to consumers. This is also chosen for the analysis (Tables 9 to 12). For ground beef, a product that is extra lean and packaged fresh is seen as the most preferred product and is used in the scenarios (Tables 13 and 14). Calculated probabilities of choosing an alternate product are also presented in the tables. The scenarios are examined for the aggregate respondents model as well as for respondents in the various locations. Several different scenarios can be evaluated to assess the effects of a change in an attribute on price but for this study the scenarios were focused on biopreservative and product origin. A summary of the scenarios are given below.

#### Scenario 1: Alberta Origin - no biopreservative versus biopreservative

Two produced-in-Albrea products, one with packaging biopreservatives and the other without, are examined. Results are presented in Tables 5, 9 and 13 for beef steak, pork cut and ground beef respectively. Except for Edmonton consumers, the probability of choosing a meat product without biopreservative is about twice the probability of choosing a meat product with biopreservative. For Edmonton consumers, the probability of choosing a meat product without biopreservative is not different from the probability of choosing a meat product with biopreservative. Therefore, except for consumers in Edmonton, a price reduction of 15% or more is required for each of the meat products before consumers will be indifferent between the two products. Price reductions required are particularly high for ground beef with biopreservatives. For example, for Winnipeg consumers, a price reduction of as much as 54% would be required for ground beef with a biopreservative if consumers are to be indifferent between the two products.
Similarly Regina consumers would be indifferent with a price reduction of about 37% (see Table 13). This suggests that for such consumers, the introduction of the technology of biopreservative in the market will not be feasible without a change in consumer attitudes. For each meat type examined, Edmonton consumers require the least price reduction for consumers to have the same probability of choosing the two products.

#### Scenario 2: Canada Origin - no biopreservative versus biopreservative

Two produced-in-Canada produts, one with a biopreservative and the other without, are examined. The results are presented in Tables 6, 10 and 14 for beef steak, pork cut and ground beef respectively. Similar to the findings of scenario 1, the probability of choosing a product without biopreservative is about twice the probability of choosing a product with biopreservative, except for Edmonton consumers. For Edmonton consumers, the probability of choosing either product is about the same. Therefore, the percentage change in price required for a product with biopreservative to have an equal probability of being chosen by consumers is the same as that for scenario 1. Edmonton consumers are indifferent to beef steak with or without biopreservatives.

The responses of Edmonton consumers suggests they may have some knowledge about the biopreservative research being done at the University of Alberta. It may also suggest that consumers have more confidence in the University of Albert and so are willing to accept the use of the preservation technology developed by these means.

#### Scenario 3: No Biopreservative: - Alberta Origin versus Canada origin

This scenario evaluates the value of product origin for high quality beef and high quality pork products. For the competing products, one product is a product of Alberta while the other is a product of Canada. The products do not contain biopreservatives. Results are presented in Tables 7 and 11 for beef and pork respectively. Generally, there is a relatively higher probability of choosing a high quality beef product from Alberta. A price reduction between 3% to 26% is required for beef products from Canada before consumers will exhibit an equal probability of purchasing beef labeled product-of Alberta or product-of-Canada (Table 7). Specifically, consumers in Winnipeg, Regina, Victoria and Edmonton, will be indifferent between the two products if a price reduction of about 3%,13%, 17% and 26% respectively is applied for the probability of choosing a product from Alberta and a product from the rest of Canada. Except for Edmonton consumers, the price change required for a produced-in-Canada pork product is about

9% or less (Table 11). Edmonton consumers require a price change of the Canadian pork product by about 9% before they will be indifferent.

This finding for pork may arise from the fact that most provinces have an established pork industry and tend to be self sufficient in pork production. The provincial pork industries have probably been able to establish an origin image in the local market so that pork products from a different province may not be seen as relatively better. This has implications for inter-provincial trade in pork. For the Alberta pork industry to penetrate the market in other provinces, other pork attributes must be considered other than the origin of the product.

#### Scenario 4: No biopreservative: - Alberta Origin versus USA origin

This scenario also evaluates the value of protect origin for high quality beef and high quality pork products. Product origins considered in this case are Alberta and the US. The products do not contain biopreservatives. The results are presented in Tables 8 and 12. Generally, the probability of choosing a product from Alberta is over five times the probability of choosing a product from the US, the price has to be reduced by over 24% before consumers will have an equal probability of purchasing either product. Specifically, consumers in Winnipeg, Regina, Victoria and Edmonton will be indifferent between the two products when the price of the US product is reduced by about 24%,30%, 34% and 44% respectively (Tables 8). For a pork cut, the US product requires an average price reduction of about 35% for all consumers to be indifferent.

#### 4.5. Scaling Method Results (General Questions in Part "A" of the questionnaire)

In Part A of the survey questionnaire, respondents were asked to indicate their degree of acceptance of various statements. Issues raised in the statements concerned preference for red meats, convenience of preparation, general meat quality, food safety, product packaging, price and health issues. Details of the statements and the ratings scheme for these can be found in Appendix III. The results of average ratings of the statements are presented in Figures 2a and 2b. Respondents generally disagreed with four statements. These included; "poultry is expensive when compared to other meats", "pork is expensive when compared to other meats", "buying pork cuts is a game of chance, since quality is so variable" and "buying beef cuts is a game of chance since quality is so variable." From these answers, it can be inferred that poultry and pork products are not perceived to be expensive.

30

Factors that appear to be of great concern to consumers since they are rated very highly as a concern are the presence of drug residues, dyes and other inorganic substances in fresh meats as well as the presence of outside fat trim on meat cuts. The concern for food safety is substantiated from the comments of respondents (see Appendix IV for some comments). The average rating given for food safety is 4.3 while the average rating for fat concerns is 4.0. In view of a high concern for food safety, much consumer education would be required with the introduction of biopreservative in packaging. Consumers would have to be convinced that a biopreservative is safe and useful. A detailed analysis of the results of the Part A section is given in Appendix V.

#### 4.6. Summary of Demographic Factors of Respondents

Figures 4 to 6 presents the groupings of demographic factors and the categories respondents fall in by city. Regarding family size, over 50% of respondents have a family size of 3 or less. Less than 5% of respondents have a family size of 6 or more (Figure 4). Regarding age, the greater percentage (over 60%) of respondents are between the ages of 30 years and 60 years. On average, 15% of all respondents fall under the age of 30 years and another 15% is over the age of 60 years (Figure 5). The income group of respondents are similar for all the locations examined. Over all, between 36% and 43% of respondents have a household income over \$50,000; between 26% and 37% of respondents earn between \$35,000 and \$50,000; 15% to 23% earn between \$20,000 and \$35,000; and 12% and less earn below \$20,000 (Figure 6).

#### 4.7. Conclusions

The study used stated preference methods to ascertain consumer attitudes to the potential use of biopreservatives in fresh meat packages and to the origin of fresh meat products. The study finds that the potential use of biopreservatives in fresh meats packages is not acceptable to Western Canadian consumers at the moment, though many consumers do not oppose this research. It seems that consumers are concerned about the presence of preservatives and other inorganic substances in food, therefore a major education program would be required to make biopreservatives acceptable to consumers. Simulation results suggest that the price of products with a biopreservative needs to be significantly reduced for consumers to be indifferent between a biopreservative product and a product without it. This further strengthens the finding that packaging biopreservatives are not acceptable to consumers at the moment. Comprehensive consumer education on this technology

31

would be necessary for this technology to be acceptable. There is a general lack of knowledge about biopreservatives (see Appendix IV). The meat industry should be involved in the propagation of the technology, informing consumers of the benefits of the technology and its advantages over existing meat packaging technologies. A better informed consumer will not totally reject biopreservative as seen by the Edmonton response to the survey.

The study also finds that consumers are loyal to meat products from Alberta and Canada as a whole, compared to fresh meat products from the US, or products without any indication of origin. For high quality beef products, Alberta is seen as a preferred source compared to other sources in Canada. Simulation results suggest that the price of beef cuts from other Canadian sources need to be reduced before consumers will be indifferent between the product and a beef cut from Alberta. On the average, a price reduction of about 15% is required for this to be the case for a beef product from other Canadian sources. Clearly, Alberta has an image in the production of high quality beef which could be capitalized to expand beef sales in the rest of Canada. High quality is what seems to have distinguished Alberta as a beef source and so a possible marketing strategy could be for an Alberta logo or insignia that will distinguish Alberta beef from other beef.

For a high quality pork cut, the study finds that consumers generally are indifferent between products from Alberta and products from other Canadian sources. A comparison of a US product and a product from Alberta suggests that there is a need to reduce the price of US products by at least 25%, whether for a beef cut or a pork cut, before consumers will be indifferent between products from the two sources. High promotional effects are required to make Alberta pork a well accepted branded product in other provinces.

Price, fat trim and packaging date are also found to be of concern to consumers. Consumers prefer low prices, low fat trim for steak and pork cuts, low fat content for ground beef and meat products that are freshly packaged. Socioeconomic factors are also found to play a significant role in consumers' fresh meat purchasing decisions. Family of small sizes show a stronger preference for beef steaks than large families.

Future research could focus on extending this work to consumers' reactions in Central and Eastern Canada. Focus group work is required to determine appropriate methods to introduce biopreservatives into commercial use. Focus groups could also be used to evaluate different Alberta beef brand images. Alberta evidently has a positive brand image for high quality beef and this advantage could be exploited. This suggests a differentiation strategy for beef. Alberta pork has no brand image. Significant efforts would be required to develop an Alberta image in pork.

This suggests an undifferentiated strategy focusing on providing high quality pork at the lowest costs in the domestic market for this meat.

# Table 1: Estimated Coefficients For Model 1 - Non-segmented model:

	ESTIMATED COEFFICIENTS		
PRODUCT ATTRIBUTE	Beef Steak	Pork Cut	Ground Beef
PROBABILITY OF PURCHASE:			
Price <sup>1</sup>	-0.397*	-0.474*	$-0.654^{*}$
No biopreservative With biopreservative	0.312 <sup>*</sup> -0.312 <sup>*</sup>	$0.371^{*}$ -0.371 <sup>*</sup>	$0.266^{*}$ - $0.266^{*}$
Alberta origin <sup>1</sup> Canadian origin <sup>1</sup> USA origin <sup>1</sup> Origin not indicated <sup>1</sup>	0.879 <sup>*</sup> 0.304 <sup>*</sup> -0.551 <sup>*</sup> -0.633 <sup>*</sup>	$\begin{array}{c} 0.760^{*} \\ 0.568^{*} \\ -0.808^{*} \\ -0.521^{*} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.241^{*} \\ 0.468^{*} \\ -0.524^{*} \\ -0.186^{*} \end{array}$
Fat level $1^1$ Fat level $2^1$ Fat level $3^2$ Fat level $4^1$	0.296 <sup>*</sup> 0.541 <sup>*</sup> -0.244 <sup>*</sup> -0.593 <sup>*</sup>	$\begin{array}{c} 0.229^{*} \\ 0.217^{*} \\ -0.040 \\ -0.406^{*} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.047^{*} \\ 0.508^{*} \\ -0.148^{*} \\ -1.408^{*} \end{array}$
Packaged Today <sup>1</sup> Packaged Yesterday <sup>1</sup> Packaged 2 days ago Packaged 3 days ago	0.992* 0.135* -0.362* -0.764*	$\begin{array}{c} 1.042^{*} \\ 0.280^{*} \\ -0.314^{*} \\ -1.007^{*} \end{array}$	0.543 <sup>*</sup> 0.409 <sup>*</sup> -0.316 <sup>*</sup> -0.636 <sup>*</sup>
PROBABILITY OF NON-PURCHASE:			
Family size of 3 or less Family size of 4 to $\mathfrak{G}$ Family size of more than $\mathfrak{G}$	-1.041 <sup>*</sup> -0.678 <sup>*</sup> 1.719 <sup>*</sup>	$-0.798^{*}$ $-0.703^{*}$ $1.501^{*}$	$^{-0.380}_{0.274^*}_{0.654^*}$
Age under 30 years <sup>3</sup> Age from 30 to 40 years <sup>3</sup> Age from 40+ to 60 years <sup>3</sup> Age over 60 years <sup>3</sup>	-0.268 <sup>*</sup> -0.196 <sup>*</sup> 0.032 0.432 <sup>*</sup>	$-0.247^{*}$ $-0.145^{*}$ $0.145^{*}$ $0.247^{*}$	$-0.436^{*}$ $-0.133^{*}$ 0.063 $0.506^{*}$
Household income of less than \$20,000 Household income of \$20,000+ to \$35,000 Household income of \$35,000+ to \$50,000 Household income of over \$50,000	0.398 <sup>*</sup> -0.105 0.050 -0.343 <sup>*</sup>	$\begin{array}{c} 0.457^{*} \\ -0.190^{*} \\ -0.030 \\ -0.237^{*} \end{array}$	0.201 <sup>*</sup> -0.097 -0.058 -0.047
Inclusive values			
Purchase Non-purchase	0.187 <sup>*</sup> 1.000 (fixed parameter)		
Pseudo R <sup>2</sup>		0.166	

#### (Specified for all respondents using a Continuous Price Variable)

\* indicates significance at 95% confidence level.

<sup>1</sup> indicates estimated coefficients significantly different across meat type (5% probability).

 $^2$  indicates estimated coefficients significantly different across meat type (10% probability).

<sup>3</sup> indicates estimated coefficients not significantly different across meat type (10% probability).

(Deer Steak moder segmented	ESTIMATED COEFFICIENTS			
PRODUCT ATTRIBUTE	Winnipeg	Regina	Victoria	Edmonton
PROBABILITY OF PURCHASE:				
Price <sup>1</sup>	-0.563*	$-0.587^{*}$	-0.455*	-0.393*
No biopreservative With biopreservative	$0.409^{*}$ -0.409 <sup>*</sup>	$0.541^{*}$ -0.541 <sup>*</sup>	$0.336^{*}$ -0.336 <sup>*</sup>	-0.007 0.007
Alberta origin <sup>3</sup> Canadian origin <sup>3</sup> USA origin <sup>3</sup> Origin not indicated <sup>3</sup>	0.802* 0.631* -0.501* -0.933*	0.954 <sup>*</sup> 0.241 -0.736 <sup>*</sup> -0.459 <sup>*</sup>	1.008 <sup>*</sup> 0.290 <sup>*</sup> -0.485 <sup>*</sup> -0.814 <sup>*</sup>	1.069 <sup>*</sup> 0.093 -0.596 <sup>*</sup> -0.565 <sup>*</sup>
No outside fat trim <sup>3</sup> Trace of outside fat trim <sup>3</sup> About quarter fat trim <sup>3</sup> Over quarter fat trim <sup>3</sup>	0.074 0.789 <sup>*</sup> -0.431 <sup>*</sup> -0.432 <sup>*</sup>	$\begin{array}{c} 0.270^{*} \\ 0.835^{*} \\ -0.189 \\ -0.916^{*} \end{array}$	$0.405^{*}$ $0.461^{*}$ $-0.350^{*}$ $-0.516^{*}$	0.274 <sup>a</sup> 0.591 <sup>*</sup> -0.201 -0.663 <sup>*</sup>
Packaged Today Packaged Yesterday Packaged 2 days ago Packaged 3 days ago	$0.977^{*}$ 0.126 -0.395^{*} -0.708^{*}	$\begin{array}{c} 1.372^{*} \\ 0.252^{a} \\ -0.645^{*} \\ -0.979^{*} \end{array}$	0.991 <sup>*</sup> 0.006 -0.282 <sup>a</sup> -0.715 <sup>*</sup>	0.969 <sup>*</sup> 0.102 -0.313 <sup>*</sup> -0.758 <sup>*</sup>
PROBABILITY OF NON-PURCHASE:				
Family size of 3 or less framily size of 4 to $\hat{\mathfrak{G}}$ Family size of more than $\hat{\mathfrak{G}}$	$\begin{array}{r} -0.881^{*} \\ -0.568^{*} \\ 1.448^{*} \end{array}$	-0.832 <sup>*</sup> -0.588 <sup>*</sup> 1.420 <sup>*</sup>	-0.824 <sup>*</sup> -0.071 0.895 <sup>*</sup>	$-0.587^{*}$ $-0.637^{*}$ $1.223^{*}$
Age under 30 years <sup>1</sup> Age from 30 to 40 years <sup>3</sup> Age from 40+ to 60 years <sup>1</sup> Age over 60 years <sup>1</sup>	0.238 0.041 -0.052 -0.226	-0.024 -0.062 -0.235 <sup>a</sup> 0.321	$-0.412^{*}$ $-0.254^{a}$ $0.237^{*}$ $0.429^{*}$	-0.753 <sup>*</sup> -0.304 <sup>*</sup> 0.136 0.921 <sup>*</sup>
Household income of less than \$20,000 Household income of \$20,000+ to \$35,000 Household income of \$35,000+ to \$50,000 Household income of over \$50,000	0.762 <sup>*</sup> -0.001 -0.252 -0.509 <sup>*</sup>	$0.172 \\ 0.127 \\ 0.030 \\ -0.329^*$	$0.265 \\ -0.424^{*} \\ 0.249^{a} \\ -0.089$	0.226 0.061 0.019 -0.335*
Inclusive values				
Purchase Non-purchase	0.048 <sup>*</sup> 1.000 (fixed value)			
Pseudo R <sup>2</sup>		0.	221	

#### Table 2a: Estimated Coefficients For Model 2 - Segmented Model:

(Beef Steak model segmented by location using a Continuous Price Variable)

indicates significance at 95% confidence level.

<sup>a</sup> indicates significance at 90% confidence level

<sup>1</sup> indicates estimated coefficients significantly different across location (5% probability).

 $^{2}$  indicates estimated coefficients significantly different across location (10% probability).

<sup>3</sup> indicates estimated coefficients not significantly different across location (10% probability).

(1 OFK Cut model segmented	ESTIMATED COEFFICIENTS			
PRODUCT ATTRIBUTE	Winnipeg	Regina	Victoria	Edmonton
PROBABILITY OF PURCHASE:				
Price <sup>1</sup>	-0.490*	-0.555*	-0.528*	-0.502*
No biopreservative With biopreservative	$0.432^{*}$ -0.432 <sup>*</sup>	$0.574^{*}$ -0.574 <sup>*</sup>	$0.548^{*}$ -0.548 $^{*}$	$0.221^{*}$ - $0.221^{*}$
Alberta origin <sup>3</sup> Canadian origin <sup>3</sup> USA origin <sup>3</sup> Origin not indicated <sup>3</sup>	0.884 <sup>*</sup> 0.626 <sup>*</sup> -0.718 <sup>*</sup> -0.792 <sup>*</sup>	$0.825^{*}$ $0.422^{*}$ $-0.758^{*}$ $-0.490^{*}$	$0.795^{*}$ $0.743^{*}$ $-0.944^{*}$ $-0.595^{*}$	0.834 <sup>*</sup> 0.425 <sup>*</sup> -0.853 <sup>*</sup> -0.405 <sup>*</sup>
No outside fat trim <sup>3</sup> Trace of outside fat trim <sup>1</sup> About quarter fat trim <sup>3</sup> Over quarter fat trim <sup>3</sup>	0.283 <sup>*</sup> 0.081 -0.014 -0.349 <sup>*</sup>	$\begin{array}{c} 0.377^{*} \\ 0.080 \\ 0.108 \\ -0.564^{*} \end{array}$	0.136 0.479 <sup>*</sup> -0.066 -0.549 <sup>*</sup>	0.342 <sup>*</sup> 0.100 -0.013 -0.429 <sup>*</sup>
Packaged Today Packaged Yesterday Packaged 2 days ago Packaged 3 days ago	1.091 <sup>*</sup> 0.318 <sup>*</sup> -0.416 <sup>*</sup> -0.992 <sup>*</sup>	1.048 <sup>*</sup> 0.403 <sup>*</sup> -0.301 <sup>*</sup> -1.150 <sup>*</sup>	1.346 <sup>*</sup> 0.266 <sup>*</sup> -0.184 -1.428 <sup>*</sup>	0.903 <sup>*</sup> 0.241 <sup>*</sup> -0.359 <sup>*</sup> -0.789 <sup>*</sup>
PROBABILITY OF NON-PURCHASE:				
Family size of 3 or less Family size of 4 to $d$ Family size of more than $d$	0.198 0.076 -0.274	-1.100 <sup>*</sup> -0.220 0.330	0.334 <sup>*</sup> 0.300 -0.634 <sup>*</sup>	-0.016 -0.307 <sup>a</sup> 0.323
Age under 30 years <sup>1</sup> Age from 30 to 40 years <sup>3</sup> Age from 40+ to 60 years <sup>3</sup> Age over 60 years <sup>1</sup>	$\begin{array}{c} 0.341^{*} \\ 0.283^{a} \\ 0.351 \\ -0.974^{*} \end{array}$	$-0.752^{*}$ $0.284^{a}$ 0.170 0.299	$egin{array}{c} -0.600^* \\ -0.056 \\ 0.478^* \\ 0.178 \end{array}$	$-1.941^{*}$ 0.083 0.498^{*} 1.360^{*}
Household income of less than \$20,000 Household income of \$20,000+ to \$35,000 Household income of \$35,000+ to \$50,000 Household income of over \$50,000	0.025 0.252 <sup>a</sup> -0.465 <sup>*</sup> -0.187	0.015 0.341 -0.056 -0.270	$egin{array}{c} 0.496^{*} \\ -0.907^{*} \\ 0.384^{*} \\ 0.027 \end{array}$	2.634 <sup>*</sup> -0.075 -0.163 -2.396 <sup>*</sup>
Inclusive values				
Purchase Non-purchase	0.632 <sup>*</sup> 1.000 (fixed parameter)			
Pseudo R <sup>2</sup>			0 237	

#### Table 2b: Estimated Coefficients For Model 2- Segmented Model:

(Pork Cut model segmented by location using a Continuous Price Variable)

indicates significance at 95% confidence level.

<sup>a</sup> indicates significance at 90% confidence level

<sup>1</sup> indicates estimated coefficients significantly different across location (5% probability).

<sup>2</sup> indicates estimated coefficients significantly different across location (10% probability).

<sup>3</sup> indicates estimated coefficients not significantly different across location (10% probability).

#### Table 2c: Estimated Coefficients For Model 2- Segmented Model:

	ESTIMATED COEFFICIENTS			<u>r</u> s
PRODUCT ATTRIBUTE	Winnipeg	Regina	Victoria	Edmonton
PROBABILITY OF PURCHASE:				
Price <sup>3</sup>	-0.355*	$-0.480^{*}$	-0.427*	-0.415*
No biopreservative With biopreservative	0.342 <sup>*</sup> -0.342 <sup>*</sup>	0.315 <sup>*</sup> -0.315 <sup>*</sup>	$0.146^{*}$ -0.146 <sup>*</sup>	0.143 <sup>*</sup> -0.143 <sup>*</sup>
Alberta origin <sup>3</sup> Canadian origin <sup>3</sup> USA origin <sup>3</sup> Origin not indicated <sup>2</sup>	0.163 0.338 <sup>*</sup> -0.340 <sup>*</sup> -0.161	0.229 <sup>*</sup> 0.623 <sup>*</sup> -0.533 <sup>*</sup> -0.319 <sup>*</sup>	0.239 <sup>*</sup> 0.499 <sup>*</sup> -0.363 <sup>*</sup> -0.375 <sup>*</sup>	0.268 <sup>*</sup> 0.313 <sup>*</sup> -0.591 <sup>*</sup> 0.010
Extra lean (10% or less fat) <sup>3</sup> Medium lean (10 - 17% fat <sup>3</sup> ) Regular lean (17 - 23% fat <sup>3</sup> ) Regular ground beef (over 23% fat <sup>3</sup> )	0.853 <sup>*</sup> -0.049 0.426 <sup>*</sup> -1.230 <sup>*</sup>	$0.769^{*}$ -0.082 $0.560^{*}$ -1.246 <sup>*</sup>	$\begin{array}{c} 0.765^{*} \\ -0.071 \\ 0.480^{*} \\ -1.174^{*} \end{array}$	1.022 <sup>*</sup> -0.091 0.310 <sup>*</sup> -1.241 <sup>*</sup>
Packaged Today Packaged Yesterday Packaged 2 days ago Packaged 3 days ago	0.426 <sup>*</sup> 0.293 <sup>*</sup> -0.233 <sup>*</sup> -0.485 <sup>*</sup>	0.358 <sup>*</sup> 0.567 -0.218 <sup>*</sup> -0.707 <sup>*</sup>	0.281 <sup>*</sup> 0.595 <sup>*</sup> -0.321 <sup>*</sup> -0.555 <sup>*</sup>	0.632 <sup>*</sup> 0.339 <sup>*</sup> -0.256 <sup>*</sup> -0.715 <sup>*</sup>
PROBABILITY OF NON-PURCHASE:				
Family size of 3 or less Family size of 4 to $\delta$ Family size of more than $\delta$	-0.267 <sup>*</sup> -0.030 0.297	-0.523 <sup>*</sup> -0.450 <sup>*</sup> 0.973 <sup>*</sup>	$-0.389^{*}$ 0.156 0.232	$-0.210^{a}$ $-0.505^{*}$ $0.715^{*}$
Age under 30 years <sup>1</sup> Age from 30 to 40 years <sup>2</sup> Age from 40+ to 60 years <sup>3</sup> Age over 60 years <sup>1</sup>	-0.069 -0.161 0.113 0.116	-0.677 <sup>*</sup> 0.030 -0.146 0.793 <sup>*</sup>	$-0.480^{*}$ $-0.428^{*}$ $0.207^{a}$ $0.702^{*}$	-0.636 <sup>*</sup> -0.037 0.034 0.639 <sup>*</sup>
Household income of less than \$20,000 Household income of \$20,000+ to \$35,000 Household income of \$35,000+ to \$50,000 Household income of over \$50,000	0.488 <sup>*</sup> -0.229 <sup>a</sup> -0.097 -0.162	$\begin{array}{c} 0.170\\ 0.219\\ -0.164\\ -0.225^{a} \end{array}$	-0.157 -0.289* 0.279* 0.167	-0.860* -0.006 -0.384* 0.114
Inclusive values				
Purchase Non-purchase	0.751 <sup>*</sup> 1.000 (fixed parameter)			
Pseudo R <sup>2</sup>		0.	165	

#### (Ground Beef model segmented by location using a Continuous Price Variable)

\* indicates significance at 95% confidence level.

<sup>a</sup> indicates significance at 90% confidence level

<sup>1</sup> indicates estimated coefficients significantly different across location (5% probability).

<sup>2</sup> indicates estimated coefficients significantly different across location (10% probability).

<sup>3</sup> indicates estimated coefficients not significantly different across location (10% probability).

	ESTIMATED COEFFICIENTS		
PRODUCT ATTRIBUTE	Beef Steak	Pork Cut	Ground Beef
PROBABILITY OF PURCHASE:			
Price level 1 <sup>1</sup> Price level 2 <sup>1</sup> Price level 3 <sup>1</sup> Price level 4 <sup>1</sup>	1.283 <sup>*</sup> 0.769 <sup>*</sup> -0.347 <sup>*</sup> -1.705 <sup>*</sup>	$\begin{array}{c} 1.119^{*} \\ 0.810^{*} \\ -0.423^{*} \\ -1.506^{*} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.741^{*} \\ 0.265^{*} \\ -0.088 \\ -0.918^{*} \end{array}$
No biopreservative With biopreservative	0.386 <sup>*</sup> -0.386 <sup>*</sup>	$0.459^{*}$ -0.459^{*}	$0.255^{*}$ - $0.255^{*}$
Alberta origin <sup>1</sup> Canadian origin <sup>3</sup> USA origin <sup>1</sup> Origin not indicated <sup>1</sup>	0.926 <sup>*</sup> 0.369 <sup>*</sup> -0.582 <sup>*</sup> -0.712 <sup>*</sup>	$\begin{array}{c} 0.845^{*} \\ 0.542^{*} \\ -0.764^{*} \\ -0.624^{*} \end{array}$	0.230 <sup>*</sup> 0.491 <sup>*</sup> -0.507 <sup>*</sup> -0.214 <sup>*</sup>
Fat level $1^{1}$ Fat level $2^{1}$ Fat level $3^{1}$ Fat level $4^{1}$	0.336 <sup>*</sup> 0.393 <sup>*</sup> -0.153 <sup>*</sup> -0.576 <sup>*</sup>	$0.284^{*} \\ 0.180^{*} \\ 0.014 \\ -0.478^{*}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.891^{*} \\ 0.478^{*} \\ -0.103 \\ -1.265^{*} \end{array}$
Packaged Today <sup>1</sup> Packaged Yesterday <sup>1</sup> Packaged 2 days ag <sup>3</sup> Packaged 3 days ag <sup>4</sup>	1.004 <sup>*</sup> 0.158 <sup>*</sup> -0.334 <sup>*</sup> -0.828 <sup>*</sup>	$\begin{array}{c} 1.084^{*} \\ 0.314^{*} \\ -0.306^{*} \\ -1.092^{*} \end{array}$	0.465 <sup>*</sup> 0.432 <sup>*</sup> -0.282 <sup>*</sup> -0.614 <sup>*</sup>
PROBABILITY OF NON-PURCHASE:			
Family size of 3 or less Family size of 4 to d Family size of more than d	$-0.147^{*}$ 0.058 0.089	0.009 -0.054 0.045	$0.175^{*} \\ 0.172^{*} \\ -0.347^{*}$
Age under 30 years <sup>3</sup> Age from 30 to 40 years <sup>3</sup> Age from 40+ to 60 years <sup>3</sup> Age over 60 years <sup>4</sup>	-0.457* -0.063 0.212* 0.309*	-0.437* -0.004 0.304* 0.137	$-0.524^{*}$ -0.051 $0.142^{*}$ $0.433^{*}$
Household income of less than \$20,000 Household income of \$20,000+ to \$35,000 Household income of \$35,000+ to \$50,000 Household income of over \$50,000	$\begin{array}{c} 0.174^{a} \\ 0.022 \\ 0.058 \\ -0.253^{*} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.252^{*} \\ -0.093 \\ -0.043 \\ -0.116^{a} \end{array}$	0.086 -0.065 -0.059 0.038
Inclusive values Purchase Non-purchase	0.593 <sup>*</sup> 1.000 (fixed parameter)		
Pseudo R <sup>2</sup>	0.202		

# Table 3: Estimated Coefficients For Model 3- Non-segmented model:

(Specified for all respondents using Effects Coded Price Variable)

indicates significance at 95% confidence level.
 a indicates significance at 90% confidence level
 1 indicates estimated coefficients significantly different across meat type (5% probability).
 2 indicates estimated coefficients significantly different across meat type (10% probability).

3 indicates estimated coefficients not significantly different across meat type (10% probability).

# Table 4: Results of Log Likelihood Ratio Tests

	Restricted Model	Unrestricted Model	$\chi^2$ Statistic
Model 1: All sample with continuous prices	10015 /1	10102.05	40.44.20*
$\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{o}} = $ all coefficients equal zero	-12217.41	-10195.27	4044.29*
Model 2a (Steak model)Sample by location with continuous prices			
$\mathbf{H}_{o}$ = all coefficients equal zero	-4061.84	-3164.44	1794.82*
Model 2b (Pork model)Sample by location with continuous prices			
$\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{o}}$ = all coefficients equal zero	-3830.33	-3103.41	1453.85*
Model 2c (Ground Beef model)Sample by location with continuous prices			
$\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{o}}$ = all coefficients equal zero	-4325.24	-3610.90	1428.68*
Model 3: All sample with coded prices			
$\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{o}}$ = all coefficients equal zero	-12217.41	-9745.80	4943.22 <sup>*</sup>

indicates significance at 99% level confidence

\*

#### Table 5: Beef Steak Scenario 1:

Scenario	Alternative A	Alternative B
Unit price	\$9.56/lb.	\$9.56/lb.
Packaging Type	Styrofoam tray over-wrap	Styrofoam tray over-wrap + biopreservative
Product Origin	Product of Alberta	Product of Alberta
Outside fat trim	Trace of visible fat	Trace of visible fat
Package label date	Packaged today	Packaged today
Probability of choice		
All respondents	0.306	0.164
Winnipeg respondents	0.330	0.146
Regina respondents	0.359	0.122
Victoria respondents	0.322	0.164
Edmonton respondents	0.246	0.249
Price Change required for indifference		
All respondents	-	-16.4%
Winnipeg respondents	-	-15.2%
Regina respondents	-	-19.3%
Victoria respondents	-	-15.4%
Edmonton respondents	-	0.40%
Probability of choice after price change		
All respondents	0.241	0.241
Winnipeg respondents	0.240	0.240
Regina respondents	0.243	0.243
Victoria respondents	0.245	0.245
Edmonton respondents	0.247	0.247

# (Alberta Origin - No Biopreservative versus Biopreservative)

#### Table 6: Beef Steak Scenario 2:

Scenario	Alternative A	Alternative B
Unit price	\$9.56/lb.	\$9.56/lb.
Packaging Type	Styrofoam tray over-wrap	Styrofoam tray over-wrap + biopreservative
Product Origin	Product of Canada	Product of Canada
Outside fat trim	Trace of visible fat	Trace of visible fat
Package label date	Packaged today	Packaged today
Probability of choice		
All respondents	0.289	0.155
Winnipeg respondents	0.328	0.145
Regina respondents	0.353	0.120
Victoria respondents	0.316	0.162
Edmonton respondents	0.240	0.243
Price Change required for indifference		
All respondents	-	-16.4%
Winnipeg respondents	-	-15.2%
Regina respondents	-	-19.3%
Victoria respondents	-	-15.4%
Edmonton respondents	-	0.40%
Probability of choice after price change		
All respondents	0.228	0.228
Winnipeg respondents	0.239	0.239
Regina respondents	0.238	0.238
Victoria respondents	0.240	0.240
Edmonton respondents	0.241	0.241

# (Canada Origin - No Biopreservative versus Biopreservative)

### Table 7: Beef Steak Scenario 3:

Scenario	Alternative A	Alternative B
Unit price	\$9.56/lb.	\$9.56/lb.
Packaging Type	Styrofoam tray over-wrap	Styrofoam tray over-wrap
Product Origin	Product of Alberta	Product of Canada
Outside fat trim	Trace of visible fat	Trace of visible fat
Package label date	Packaged today	Packaged today
Probability of choice		
All respondents	0.301	0.169
Winnipeg respondents	0.260	0.219
Regina respondents	0.323	0.159
Victoria respondents	0.327	0.159
Edmonton respondents	0.356	0.134
Price Change required for indifference		
All respondents	-	-15.1%
Winnipeg respondents	-	-3.2%
Regina respondents	-	-12.7%
Victoria respondents	-	-16.5%
Edmonton respondents	-	-26.0%
Probability of choice after price change		
All respondents	0.241	0.241
Winnipeg respondents	0.240	0.240
Regina respondents	ts 0.243 0.243	
Victoria respondents	0.245	0.245
Edmonton respondents	0.247	0.247

# (No biopreservative - Alberta origin versus Canada origin)

#### Table 8: Beef Steak Scenario 4:

(No biopreservative -	Alberta origin	versus	USA origin)

Scenario	Alternative A	Alternative B
Unit price	\$9.56/lb.	\$9.56/lb.
Packaging Type	Styrofoam tray over-wrap	Styrofoam tray over-wrap
Product Origin	Product of Alberta	Product of USA
Outside fat trim	Trace of visible fat	Trace of visible fat
Package label date	Packaged today	Packaged today
Probability of choice		
All respondents	0.371	0.089
Winnipeg respondents	0.373	0.101
Regina respondents	0.405	0.075
Victoria respondents	0.395	0.089
Edmonton respondents	0.412	0.078
Price Change required for indifference		
All respondents	-	-37.7%
Winnipeg respondents	-	-24.2%
Regina respondents	-	-30.1%
Victoria respondents	-	-34.3%
Edmonton respondents	-	-44.3%
Probability of choice after price change		
All respondents	0.241	0.241
Winnipeg respondents	0.240	0.240
Regina respondents	0.243	0.243
Victoria respondents	0.245	0.245
Edmonton respondents	0.247	0.247

### Table 9: Pork Cut Scenario 1:

Scenario	Alternative A	Alternative B
Unit price	\$9.56/lb.	\$9.56/lb.
Packaging Type	Styrofoam tray over-wrap	Styrofoam tray over-wrap + biopreservative
Product Origin	Product of Alberta	Product of Alberta
Outside fat trim	No visible fat	No visible fat
Package label date	Packaged today	Packaged today
Probability of choice		
All respondents	0.284	0.135
Winnipeg respondents	0.184	0.077
Regina respondents	0.151	0.048
Victoria respondents	0.171	0.057
Edmonton respondents	0.134	0.086
Price Change required for indifference		
All respondents	-	-16.4%
Winnipeg respondents	-	-18.4%
Regina respondents	-	-21.7%
Victoria respondents	-	-21.7%
Edmonton respondents	-	-9.2%
Probability of choice after price change		
All respondents	0.216	0.216
Winnipeg respondents	0.152	0.152
Regina respondents	0.122	0.122
Victoria respondents	0.138	0.138
Edmonton respondents	0.121	0.121

# (Alberta Origin - No Biopreservative versus Biopreservative)

### Table 10: Pork Cut Scenario 2:

Scenario	Alternative A	Alternative B
Unit price	\$9.56/lb.	\$9.56/lb.
Packaging Type	Styrofoam tray over-wrap	Styrofoam tray over-wrap + biopreservative
Product Origin	Product of Canada	Product of Canada
Outside fat trim	No visible fat	No visible fat
Package label date	Packaged today	Packaged today
Probability of choice		
All respondents	0.278	0.132
Winnipeg respondents	0.162	0.068
Regina respondents	0.122	0.039
Victoria respondents	0.166	0.055
Edmonton respondents	0.109	0.070
Price Change required for indifference		
All respondents	-	-16.4%
Winnipeg respondents	-	-18.4%
Regina respondents	-	-21.7%
Victoria respondents	-	-21.7%
Edmonton respondents	-	-9.2%
Probability of choice after price change		
All respondents	0.212	0.212
Winnipeg respondents	0.136	0.136
Regina respondents	0.100	0.100
Victoria respondents	0.135	0.135
Edmonton respondents	0.099	0.099

# (Canada Origin - No Biopreservative versus Biopreservative)

## Table 11: Pork Cut Scenario 3:

Scenario	Alternative A	Alternative B
Unit price	\$9.56/lb.	\$9.56/lb.
Packaging Type	Styrofoam tray over-wrap	Styrofoam tray over-wrap
Product Origin	Product of Alberta	Product of Canada
Outside fat trim	No visible fat	No visible fat
Package label date	Packaged today	Packaged today
Probability of choice		
All respondents	0.235	0.194
Winnipeg respondents	0.163	0.128
Regina respondents	0.134	0.090
Victoria respondents	0.140	0.133
Edmonton respondents	0.133	0.088
Price Change required for indifference		
All respondents	-	-4.2%
Winnipeg respondents	-	-5.5%
Regina respondents	-	-7.6%
Victoria respondents	-	-1.0%
Edmonton respondents	-	-8.5%
Probability of choice after price change		
All respondents	0.216	0.216
Winnipeg respondents	nts 0.152 0.152	
Regina respondents	0.122	0.122
Victoria respondents	0.138	0.138
Edmonton respondents	0.121	0.121

# (No biopreservative - Alberta origin versus Canada origin)

### Table 12: Pork Cut Scenario 4:

Scenario	Alternative A	Alternative B
Unit price	\$9.56/lb.	\$9.56/lb.
Packaging Type	Styrofoam tray over-wrap	Styrofoam tray over-wrap
Product Origin	Product of Alberta	Product of USA
Outside fat trim	No visible fat	No visible fat
Package label date	Packaged today	Packaged today
Probability of choice		
All respondents	0.339	0.071
Winnipeg respondents	0.201	0.040
Regina respondents	0.158	0.032
Victoria respondents	0.182	0.032
Edmonton respondents	0.157	0.029
Price Change required for indifference		
All respondents	-	-34.6%
Winnipeg respondents	-	-34.2%
Regina respondents	-	-29.8%
Victoria respondents	-	-34.5%
Edmonton respondents	-	-35.1%
Probability of choice after price change		
All respondents	0.216	0.216
Winnipeg respondents	0.152	0.152
Regina respondents	0.122	0.122
Victoria respondents	0.138	0.138
Edmonton respondents	0.121	0.121

# (No biopreservative - Alberta origin versus USA origin)

### Table 13: Ground Beef Scenario 1:

Scenario	Alternative A	Alternative B
Unit price	\$3.56/lb.	\$3.56/lb.
Packaging Type	Styrofoam tray over-wrap	Styrofoam tray over-wrap + biopreservative
Product Origin	Product of Alberta	Product of Alberta
Fat content	Extra lean (10% or less fat)	Extra lean (10% or less fat)
Package label date	Packaged today	Packaged today
Probability of choice		
All respondents	0.322	0.189
Winnipeg respondents	0.444	0.224
Regina respondents	0.373	0.199
Victoria respondents	0.286	0.214
Edmonton respondents	0.402	0.302
Price Change required for indifference		
All respondents	-	-22.9%
Winnipeg respondents	-	-54.2%
Regina respondents	-	-36.8%
Victoria respondents	-	-19.1%
Edmonton respondents	-	-19.4%
Probability of choice after price change		
All respondents	0.261	0.261
Winnipeg respondents	0.357	0.357
Regina respondents	0.310	0.310
Victoria respondents	0.250	0.250
Edmonton respondents	0.362	0.362

# (Alberta Origin - No Biopreservative versus Biopreservative)

### Table 14: Ground Beef Scenario 2:

Scenario	Alternative A	Alternative B
Unit price	\$3.56/lb.	\$3.56/lb.
Packaging Type	Styrofoam tray over-wrap	Styrofoam tray over-wrap + biopreservative
Product Origin	Product of Canada	Product of Canada
Fat content	Extra lean (10% or less fat)	Extra lean (10% or less fat)
Package label date	Packaged today	Packaged today
Probability of choice		
All respondents	0.329	0.193
Winnipeg respondents	0.463	0.233
Regina respondents	0.419	0.223
Victoria respondents	0.286	0.214
Edmonton respondents	0.406	0.305
Price Change required for indifference		
All respondents	-	-22.9%
Winnipeg respondents	-	-54.2%
Regina respondents	-	-36.8%
Victoria respondents	-	-19.1%
Edmonton respondents	-	-19.4%
Probability of choice after price change		
All respondents	0.266	0.266
Winnipeg respondents	0.370	0.370
Regina respondents	0.344	0.344
Victoria respondents	0.250	0.250
Edmonton respondents	0.365	0.365

# (Canada Origin - No Biopreservative versus Biopreservative)

	All	Winnipeg	Regina	Victoria	Edmonton
	respondents	respondents	respondents	respondents	respondents
High quality Beef					
Purchase	68%	69%	69%	65%	69%
Non- purchase	32%	31%	31%	35%	31%
High quality Pork					
Purchase	64%	64%	68%	60%	65%
Non- purchase	36%	36%	32%	40%	35%
Ground Beef					
Purchase	59%	59%	63%	55%	58%
Non- purchase	41%	41%	37%	45%	42%

# Table 15: Proportion of Respondents regarding Alternatives chosen in Stated Preference

### (Alternatives A & B = Purchase; Alternative C = Non-purchase)















<sup>a</sup> Ratings are; 1 = strongly disagree; 2 = disagree; 3 = neither agree nor disagree;
 4 = agree; 5 = strongly agree

Figure 2b<sup>a</sup>



<sup>a</sup> Ratings are; 1 = strongly disagree; 2 = disagree; 3 = neither agree nor disagree;
 4 = agree; 5 = strongly agree



Figure 4 FAMILY SIZE OF RESPONDENTS 100% 90% 71 80% 59% 61% 54% 70% percentage 43 60% 38% 37% 35% 27% 50% 40% 30% 3 4% 30 20% 10% 0% All Winnipeg Victoria Edmonton Regina respondents Family size of 3 or less Family size of 3 to 6 Family size of more than 6

Figure 5



Figure 6



#### REFERENCES

Adamowicz, W.L., J.J. Louviere and M. Williams. 1994a "Combining Revealed and Stated Preference methods For Valuing Environmental Amenities." *Jour. Of Environmental Econ. And Management* 26:271-292.

Adamowicz, W.L., P.C. Boxall and J.J. Louviere. 1994b "Stated Preference Methods For Environmental Valuation." Staff Paper. Dept. of Rural Economy, University of Alberta, Edmonton.

**Agriculture Canada. 1990** "Modified Atmosphere Packaging." Report Series. Food Development Division, Ag. Canada. Ottawa.

**Alston J. And J. Chalfant. 1990** "Can We Take The Con Out Of The Meat Demand Studies?" Paper Presented in the Annual Meeting of Western Agricultural Economists Association. Vancouver, B.C.

**Ben-Akiva, M. And S.R. Lerman. 1987** "Discrete Choice Analysis: Theory and Application to Travel Demand." The MIT Press, Massachusetts.

**Bockstael, K.E., K.E. McConnell, and I.E. Strand. 1991** "Recreation." In Measuring The Demand For Environmental Quality. Chapter VIII - Edited by J.B. Braden and C.D. Kolstad. Elsevier Science Publishing Co. Inc. New York.

**Braden, J.B. and C.D. Kolstad. 1991** "Measuring The Demand For Environmental Quality." Elsevier Science Publishing Co. Inc. New York.

**Capps O., D.S. Moen, and R.E. Branson. 1988** "Consumer Characteristics Associated with the Selection of Lean Meat Products." *Agribusiness* 4(6):549-557.

Consumers Association of Canada. 1990 Food Safety in Canada

**Eales, J.S. 1992** "The Canadian Demand for Meats." Staff Paper. Dept. of Rural Economy, Univ. of Alberta. Edmonton.

Green, William H. 1995 LIMDEP Version 7.0. Economic Software Inc.

**Hoffman, E., et. al. 1993** "Using Laboratory Experimental Auctions In Marketing Research: A Case Study of New Packaging For Fresh Beef*Marketing Science* 12(3):318-338.

Hensher, D.A, P.O. Barnard, and T.P. Truong. 1988 "The Role of Stated Preference Methods in Studies of Travel Choice." *Jour. of Transport Economics and Policy* January: 45-57.

Johnson, A. C., M. B. Johnson and R. C. Buse. 1987Econometrics - Basic and Applied. Macmillan Publishing Co. New York, N.Y.

Kolstad, C.D. and J.B. Braden. 1991 "Environmental Demand Theory." In Measuring The Demand For Environmental Quality. Chapter II - Edited by J.B. Braden and C.D. Kolstad. Elsevier Science Publishing Co. Inc. New York.

**Kroes, E.P. and R.J. Sheldon. 1988** "Stated Preference Methods." *Jour. of Transportation Economics and Policy.* January: 11-17.

**Louviere, J.J. 1988** "Analyzing Decision Making - Metric Conjoint Analysis" Series: Quantitative Applications in the Social Sciences. SAGE University Papers. SAGE Puclications, Inc. Newbury Park, California.

**Louviere, J.J. 1994** "Relating Stated Preference Measures and Models To Choices in Real Markets: Contingent Valuation Responses." Paper Prepared for the DOE/EPA Workshop. Herndon, VA. May 19-20.

McLeod, K., P.C. Boxall, and W.L. Adamowicz. 1993 "The Incorporation of Nontimber Goods and Services in Integrated Resource Management: An Introduction to the Alberta Moose Hunting Study." Interim Project Report. Dept. of Rural Economy, Univ. of Alberta. Edmonton.

Menkhaus, D.J., D.P.M. Colin, G.D. Whipple, and R.A. Field. 1993 "The Effects of Perceived Product Attributes on the Perception of Beef." *Agribusiness* 9(1): 57-63.

Menkhaus, D.J., G.D. Whipple, S.J Torok, and R.A. Field. 1988 "Developing a Marketing Strategy for Branded, Low Fat, Fresh Beef." *Agribusiness* 4(1): 91-103.

Menkhaus, D.J., R.L. Pingetzer, G.D. Whipple, and R.A. Field. 1990 "The Influence of Consumer Concerns And Demographic factors on Purchasing Patterns for Beef." *Jour. of Food Distribution Research.* 21(3): 55-64.

**Pelzer, P.M.L., et. al. 1991.** "Factors Influencing Consumer Rankings of Alternative Retail Beef Packaging." *Agribusiness* 7(3): 253-267.

Schmitz, J. and R.M. Nayga. 1991 "Food Nutritional Quality: A Pilot Study On Consumer Awareness." *Jour. of Food Distribution Research* 22(2): 19-33.

Wilkie, W.L. and E.A. Pessemier. 1973 "Issues in Marketing's Use of Multi-Attribute Attitude Models." *Jour. of Marketing Science* 10:428-441.

	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4
Product Factors	$\mathbf{\Psi}$	$\mathbf{+}$	$\mathbf{+}$	$\mathbf{\Psi}$
Beef steak				
Unit price	\$5.66/lb	\$7.36/lb	\$9.56/lb	\$12.43/lb
Packaging Type	-	Styrofoam tray overwrap + biopreservative	-	-
Outside fat trim	No visible fat	Trace of visible fat	About 1/4 inch visible fat	More than 1/4 inch visible fat
Product Origin		Product of Canada	Product of US	Not indicated
Package date	Packaged Today	Packaged Yesterday	Packaged 2 days ago	Packaged 3 days ago
<u>Pork</u>				
Unit price	\$4.35/lb	\$5.57/lb	\$7.35/lb	\$9.56/lb
Package Type	Styrofoam tray overwrap	Styrofoam tray overwrap + biopreservative	-	-
Outside fat trim	No visible fat	Trace of visible fat	About 1/4 inch visible fat	More than 1/4 inch visible fat
Product Origin	Product of Alberta	Product of Canada	Product of US	Not indicated
Package date	Packaged Today	Packaged Yesterday	Packaged 2 days ago	Packaged 3 days ago
<u>Ground bee</u> f				
Unit price	\$0.98/lb	\$1.84/lb	\$2.70/lb	\$3.56/lb
Packaging Type	Styrofoam tray overwrap	Styrofoam tray overwrap + biopreservative	-	-
Fat content	Extra lean (10% or less fat)	Regular lean (10% to 17% fat)	Medium lean (17% to 23% fat)	Regular ground beef (23% to 30% fat)
Product Origin	Product of Alberta	Product of Canada	Product of US	Not indicated
Package date	Packaged Today	Packaged Yesterday	Packaged 2 days ago	Packaged 3 days ago

# **APPENDIX IISample Introductory Letter sent to all participants**

Date ?

Address ? ?

Dear ?,

The University of Alberta, a leader in meat research, is currently researching meat packaging and shelf life issues involving the use of biological preservatives (biopreservatives) to extend meat shelf life. Biopreservatives are bacteria that control or inhibit the growth of pathogens that cause illness, such as *E. coli* (commonly associated with hamburger disease). Research on biopreservatives is on-going, and these preservatives meat to remain packaged and stored for longer periods without loss in quality. The Department of Rural Economy, University of Alberta is conducting a survey to determine consumers' views and opinions regarding this potential new packaging technology for fresh meat. The survey is funded by the Alberta Agricultural Research Institute (AARI).

The enclosed survey is being sent to you to obtain your opinions on this potential new packaging technology. We would appreciate your participation in the study by answering all questions (if applicable) and also adding any comments, if any. Your answers to the questions will help direct research in the area of packaging technology and also provide input into industry policy issues regarding meat production and promotion. Every opinion is important to us and as such your input on these issues will be much appreciated.

Recently you were contacted by telephone and asked if you would be willing to participate in this survey and your response was positive. You are among a group of randomly selected households chosen to participate in the survey. Advantage Field Research in Edmonton is administering the survey on behalf of the Department of Rural Economy, University of Alberta. Data processing and handling of information in the survey is entirely the responsibility of the department. We wish to assure you that all answers are completely confidential but each survey is numbered to prevent duplicate mailing. As only a select group of households have been chosen, we would appreciate you completing and returning the questionnaire as soon as possible. Your answers are important to us.

Your name is not required for this survey, only your opinion**The questionnaire is directed to the individual in the household who makes the majority of meat purcha¥es**ur participation in voluntary. For any further information, you can contact me at (403)492-4225 [fax: 492-0268].

Thank you for your cooperation and assistance.

Sincerely,

James R. Unterschultz AARI Professorship

#### APPENDIX III: A Sample Copy of the Survey Questionnaire

# A SURVEY ON POTENTIAL NEW PACKAGING TECHNOLOGIES FOR FRESH MEAT

The University of Alberta is currently researching meat packaging that uses biological preservatives (biopreservatives). As indicated in the cover letter, biopreservatives are bacteria that control or inhibit the growth of pathogens that cause illness and therefore their introduction in fresh meat packages will allow fresh meat to remain safely packaged and stored for longer periods without loss in quality. **Biopreservatives are currently not in use**This survey is aimed at evaluating your views on this potential new packaging technology. Your response will help direct research in the area of packaging technology and also provide input into industry policy issues related to fresh meat promotion. This survey is a University of Alberta sponsored project funded by the Alberta Agricultural Research Institute (AARI). Please take a few minutes now to respond to the questions in this survey. Your participation is voluntary.

Thank you for your help!!

James R. Unterschultz, AARI Professorship Department of Rural Economy, University of Alberta, Edmonton. T6G 2H1. Tel: (403)492-4225. Fax: (403)492-0268 E-mail: juntersc@re.ualberta.ca

# **<u>PART A:</u>** General questions

Please check( $\checkmark$ ) only one box to indicate your answer for each of the following statements about fresh meats. In answering these questions, note the following;

SD = Strongly disagree; D = Disagree; N = Neither agree nor disagree; A = Agree; SA = Strongly agree

STATEMENTS	SD	D	Ν	Α	SA
1. The whole family usually sits down together for at least one home prepared meal each day.		$\square_2$	$\square_3$	$\Box_4$	$\Box_{5}$
2. Meat and potatoes are a basic major daily meal for the family.		$\square_2$	$\square_{3}$	$\Box_4$	$\Box_{5}$
3. I prefer meals prepared at home to eating out.		$\Box_2$			$\square_5$
4. Speed and ease of meal preparation are important to me	· 🔲	$\square_2$			$\square_{5}$
5. Overall, I consider meat purchased from grocery stores or other similar stores to be of good quality.		$\square_2$	$\square_{3}$	$\Box_4$	$\Box_{5}$
6. The presence of drug residue, dyes and other inorganic substances in fresh meats are of concern to me.		$\square_2$	$\square_{3}$	$\Box_4$	$\Box_{5}$
7. I prefer packaging types that will allow meat to be kept for longer periods.		$\square_2$	$\square_{3}$	$\Box_4$	$\Box_{5}$
8. Poultry is expensive when compared to other meats.		$\Box_2$	$\square_3$	$\Box_4$	$\Box_5$
9. Beef is expensive when compared to other meats.		$\square_2$			$\square_{5}$
10.Pork is expensive when compared to other meats.		$\Box_2$			
11.I prefer meat cuts with all the outside fat trimmed off.		$\square_2$		$\Box_4$	$\square_{5}$
12.Buying pork cuts is a game of chance, since quality is s variable.		$\square_2$	$\square_{3}$	$\Box_4$	$\square_{5}$
13.Buying beef cuts is a game of chance, since quality is so variable.		$\square_2$	$\square_{3}$	$\Box_4$	$\square_{5}$
14.For dietary reasons, I eat less meat now than 2 years ago.		$\square_2$		$\Box_4$	$\square_{5}$

#### PART B: Choosing Between Products

#### QUESTIONNAIRE ON CONSUMER CHOICES FOBEEF STEAK

Suppose that on your next grocery shopping trip, you are at the meat counter to purchase **Beef strip loin (boneless) steak** a similar beef steak such as T-bone, tenderloin, sirloin or prime rib steak. Assume the package size is suitable for your household and you are comparing different packages of the same beef steak. Considering the various attributes of beef, such as price, packaging, origin of meat production, outside fat trim and package label date, which one of the alternatives, *A to C*, presented in the scenarios following are you most likely to choose?

Alternatives *A* and *B* outline different descriptions for the steak. Choice applies if you would not purchase either *A* or *B*. Check ( $\checkmark$ ) only one alternative as an answer in each case.

Product Attribute	Alternative A	Alternative B	Alternative C
Unit price	\$7.36/lb.	\$7.36/lb.	
Packaging Type	Styrofoam tray over-wrap + biopreservative	Styrofoam tray over-wrap + biopreservative	Neither A or B
Product Origin label	Product of Canada	Product of Canada	is chosen
Outside fat trim	No visible fat	More than 1/4 inch of visible fat	
Package label date	Packaged 2 days ago	Packaged Yesterday	
	Û	Û	Û
I would choose			

#### **SCENARIO 1**

#### **SCENARIO 2**

Product Attribute	Alternative A Alternative B		Alternative C
Unit price	\$5.66/lb.	\$12.43/lb.	
Packaging Type	Styrofoam tray over-wrap + biopreservative	Styrofoam tray over-wrap + biopreservative	Neither A or B
Product Origin label	Product of Canada	Product of US	is chosen
Outside fat trim	Trace of visible fat	No visible fat	
Package label date	ackage label date Packaged Yesterday		
	Û	Û	Û
I would choose			
## QUESTIONNAIRE ON CONSUMER CHOICES FOR TENDERLOIN CUT

Suppose that on your next grocery shopping trip, you are at the meat counter to purchase **pork tenderloin** (**boneless**) r a similar pork cut such as loin chop, loin roast, or center cut chop. Assume the package size is suitable for your household and you are comparing different packages of the same pork cut. Considering the various attributes of pork, such as price, packaging, origin of meat production, outside fat trim and package label date, which one of the alternatives C, presented in the scenarios following are you most likely to choose?

Alternatives *A* and *B* outline different descriptions for the pork cut. Choice applies if you would not purchase either *A* or *B*. Check ( $\checkmark$ ) only one alternative as an answer in each case.

Product Attribute	Alternative A	Alternative B	Alternative C
Unit price	\$5.57/lb.	\$5.57/lb.	
Packaging Type	Styrofoam tray over-wrap + biopreservativeStyrofoam tray over-wrap + biopreservative		Neither A or B
Product Origin label	Product of US	Product of US	is chosen
Outside fat trim	No visible fat	No visible fatOver 1/4 inch of visible fat	
Package label date	Packaged 2 days ago	Packaged Yesterday	
	Û	Û	Û
I would choose			

### **SCENARIO 1**

### **SCENARIO 2**

Product Attribute	Alternative A	Alternative B	Alternative C
Unit price	\$4.35/lb.	\$9.56/lb.	
Packaging Type	Styrofoam tray over-wrap + biopreservativeStyrofoam tray over-wrap + biopreservative		Neither A or B
Product Origin label	Product of US	Product of Canada	is chosen
Outside fat trim	Trace of visible fat	isible fat No visible fat	
Package label date	Packaged Yesterday	ed Yesterday Packaged 2 days ago	
	Û	Û	Û
I would choose			

## QUESTIONNAIRE ON CONSUMER CHOICES FOR ROUND BEEF

Suppose that on your nextgrocery shopping trip, you are at the meat counter to purchase **Ground beef or patties** Assume the package size is suitable for your household and you are comparing different packages of the same product. A fat content of 10% or less refers to extra lean, 10 - 17% is regular lean, 17 - 23% is medium lean and 23 - 30% is the fat content of regular ground beef. Considering the various attributes of ground beef, such as price, packaging, origin of meat production, fat content and package label date, which one of the alternativ**A**sto C, presented in the scenarios following are you most likely to choose?

Alternatives *A* and *B* outline different descriptions for ground beef. Choice applies if you would not purchase either *A* or *B*. Check ( $\checkmark$ ) only one alternative as an answer in each case.

Product Attribute	Alternative A	Alternative B	Alternative C
Unit price	\$2.70/lb.	\$2.70/lb.	
Packaging Type	Styrofoam tray over-wrap + biopreservativeStyrofoam tray over-wrap + biopreservative		Neither A or B
Product Origin label	Product of Alberta	Not indicated	is chosen
Fat Content	Regular lean	Regular lean	
	(10% to 17% fat)	(10% to 17% fat)	
Package label date	Packaged 2 days ago Packaged Yesterday		
	Û	Û	Û
I would choose			

#### **SCENARIO** 1

### **SCENARIO 2**

Product Attribute	Alternative A	Alternative B	Alternative C
Unit price	\$3.56/lb.	\$0.98/lb.	
Packaging Type	Styrofoam tray over-wrap + biopreservative	Styrofoam tray over-wrap + biopreservative	Neither A or B
Product Origin label	Product of Canada	Product of Alberta	is chosen
Fat Content	Regular lean	Medium lean	
	(10% to 17% fat)	(17% to 23% fat)	
Package label date	Packaged Yesterday	Packaged 2 days ago	
	Û	Û	Û
I would choose			

# PART C: Supplementary Questions

# Please check () only one of the alternatives as your answer.

- 1. How many people are in your household? 3 or less 4 to 6 More than 6 2. What is your age? Under 30 years 30 - 40 years  $40^{+}$  - 60 years Over 60 years 3. What is your approximate total houshold income? Less than \$20,000 \$20,000<sup>+</sup> to \$35,000 \$35,000<sup>+</sup> to \$50,000 Over \$50,000 What is your opinion on the potential future use of biopreservatives? 4. It is a good project. Continue with the research. I have no opinion on the issue. I will not encourage its use. Stop the research.
- 5. Indicate how often in a month you eat each of the following meats in your household.

	Frequently	Less frequently	Not at all / rarely
Beef			
Pork			
Poultry			
Fish/seafood			

6. Do you have anything on the above issue to tell us? If so, please use the space below for the purpose, or include your comments on a separate sheet of paper.

# APPENDIX IV: Some Comments by Respondents on the Issue of Biopreservatives

- 1. "If the biopreservative will not be harmful as to any side effects it should be used to control the bacteria in the meats."
- 2. "I would like to know more about the biopreservative added, and long term effects of ingestion of the additive."
- 3. "The mistake that you made was not informing on the possible side affects of this agent. The meat might last longer, but is this chemical immune to all the diseases, viruses, and infections one might have? Does this speed up disease or not affect a person? Please send me medical proof that this will not harm people."
- 4. "Additives to any food product is of high concern due to susceptibility to allergies. Are there likely to be allergic reactions to the biopreservative and is the problem being considered?"
- 5. "I suppose if biopreservatives are the way of the future, the public should be made aware of its effectiveness and safety. A safety concern might be; accidental overdose of bacteria. As it stands, I do not have enough data to form an informed opinion."
- 6. "It is interesting research, however I would like to know more about it. If it is harmless to people and does not increase the price of the product, then I say go for it."
- 7. "In part C question 4 I answered that I have no opinion on biopreservatives; in actuality I know very little on the subject. This lack of knowledge does cause some concern for me."
- 8. "Biopreservative!! Is it safe? How will it effect me, my family, the taste of the product etc."
- 9. "As long as biopreservatives would not cause health problems, I would agree with it."
- 10. "One must assume that a public education program i.e. TV, newspapers would be necessary prior to the introduction of biopreservatives."
- 11. "As a know nothing about biopreservatives, their use concerns me. I prefer meat to have as few preservatives added as possible."
- 12. "Although these biopreservatives are potentially natural, I still have the feeling they are additives which I would prefer not to have."

- 13."I have no opinion on whether or not we should use preservatives in food as there is not enough knowledge that the average person can understand given to them."
- 14. "Please excuse my ignorance of these so called, biopreservatives. If we know their properties and functions we could better serve this poll. Are these chemicals, or naturally produced products? Side effects? etc."
- 15."I'm not knowledgeable about biopreservatives so really can't give you an opinion. Because of this survey, I will learn about them."
- 16."I feel very strongly about the future long term effects of this "bacteria" on our bodies. I will <u>not</u> buy anything packaged in it."
- 17."Some of my answers are based on the premise that the biopreservatives are a safe method to use. I would hate to think the 'cure' is worse that the 'disease' as so many of these new inventions are. However I think it could be an exciting concept if it proves safe to humans."
- 18. "My only concern with biopreservatives is that they may have adverse effects on the consumers and I would expect that this aspect would be thoroughly and diligently researched."
- 19."I think we get enough additives and preservatives in our food that we eat without adding it to fresh meat; if you used a preservative in meats, you couldn't call it "FRESH MEAT" now could you?"
- 20. "Would biopreservatives bring the cost of meat down? How long would it preserve the meat? What effects do biopreservatives have on humans? Would stores abuse the shelf life of meats with biopreservatives in them. Would biopreservatives be put in sausages and cold cuts? Would this help to reduce the amount of salt and other things in them? Would it cut down on the use of nitrates?"
- 21. "You have not provided sufficient background information for me to decide whether I would want to buy meat containing biopreservatives. Does it affect taste? Are there any controversial issues surrounding its use?"
- 22."Although there indicated no opinion on the new biopreservatives it is from lack of knowledge rather than interest. A product that will help guarantee freshness and germ or disease free foods should be strongly pursued. Also, anything short of drugs or other unsafe products or packaging, is useful in prolonging shelf life, would be welcomed by infrequent shoppers."
- 23."Biopreservatives need publicity and consumer education.

## APPENDIX V: Results of Analyses of Parts A and C of Questionnaire

## Introduction

The University of Alberta recently conducted a survey to evaluate consumer opinions on the potential use of a new packaging technology for fresh meat. Two important components of this study were to assess the potential use of a biological preservative in meat packages and the importance of product origin. Biopreservatives are a new technology meant to allow fresh meat to be stored for long periods without any loss of quality.

### Methodology

We evaluated the survey results from parts 'A' and 'C' of the survey on biopreservatives and product origin. Part 'A' of the questionnaire provides a series of statements to which respondents are to indicate their agreement or disagreement. Part 'C' seeks to gather specific information on income range, opinions on the continuing research on biopreservative, and other demographics including age group and family size. Mean responses from the surveys were tabled and graphed. Differences between groups are small and may be the result of sampling variability. Statistical testing of the differences was not conducted.

## **Discussion of Results**

### Response to Part 'A' Statements

Response to the statements by the various respo**nd**ts in Part 'A' of the questionnaire are presented in Figures 7, 8, 9, 10 and 11 respectively for all respondents, Winnipeg respondents, Regina respondents, Victoria respondents and Edmonton respondents. The figures present percentages of respondents and their agreement or disagreement to the statements presented to them. Some of the responses are worth highlighting. For example, there are some issues raised in the statements which over 50% of respondents either strongly agreed or agreed.

On the issue eating at least one home prepared meal a day, 80% of all respondents agreed indicating they ate at least one home prepared meal a day. For Winnipeg consumers, 77% agreed, 80% of Regina respondents agreed, 84% of Victoria respondents agreed and 79% of Edmonton respondents also agreed. However, when asked about preference for home prepared meals versus eating out, 72% of all respondents indicated they preferred meals prepared at home (Figure 7). In Winnipeg, Regina, Victoria and Edmonton, 71%, 78%, 72% and 67% of respondents respectively preferred home prepared meals to eating out. These responses indicate that though people eat outside the home, they still prefer eating at home and home prepared meals.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The assistance of Marty Foster is gratefully acknowledged for doing this analysis.

Consumers also indicated that meat and potatoes are a basic major daily meal at home. The percentage of overall respondents who agreed to this is 56%. In Winnipeg, 59% of respondents agreed to the statement (figure 8), 62% agreed in Regina (figure 9), 52% agreed in Victoria (figure (10) and 53% agreed in Edmonton (figure 11). Though over 50% of respondents indicated potatoes and meat as a major meal at home, relatively less indicated they ate less meat due to dietary reasons. For all respondents, 49% indicated they ate less meat now than before, 42% of respondents in Winnipeg agreed to this statement, 49% of respondents in Regina also agreed, 50% of respondents in Victoria agreed and 51% of respondents in Edmonton also agreed. It is an indication that about 50% of consumers eat meat, i.e. beef, pork and chicken.

Another issue that consumers preferred was the speed and ease of meat preparation. For all respondents, 79% considered this as very important. In Winnipeg, 76% of respondents agreed this is important to them. For Regina, Victoria and Edmonton respondents, 84%, 74% and 81% respectively also agreed this is important to them.

Food safety is also seen as of great concern to consumers. When asked to indicate their agreement or disagreement to the statement that inorganic substances, preservatives, dyes and drug residues in food were of concern, 87% of all respondents agreed that this is of concern. For the individual cities, 87%, 85%,92%, and 85% of respondents in Winnipeg, Regina, Victoria and Edmonton respectively agreed this was of concern to them.

Regarding packaging meat for long storage periods, 56% of all respondents agreed this is a good concept. For Winnipeg respondents, 57% agreed this is good. Similarly, 53%, 50% and 67% respectively of respondents in Regina, Victoria and Edmonton agreed that packaging that allows meat to store for longer periods is good. Quality was also expressed as a concern with over 75% of all respondents agreeing that grocery shops offer good quality meat. Over 80% of respondents expressed that they prefer meat with all the outside fat trimmed. On price, beef was considered the most expensive among the three meat types of beef, pork and chicken.

Response to Part 'A' statements were also segmented by income group, age, family size, and opinion on the research on biopreservatives (Figures 12, 13, 14 and 15 respectively). The figures express the rankings each sub-group of a segment assigned to the statements. The rankings were of the order; strongly disagree = 0, disagree = 1, neither agree nor disagree = 3, agree = 4 and strongly agree = 5.

For a family size of 6 and above, issues that were ranked very high include speed and ease of meat preparation, presence of drug residue, dyes and other inorganic substances in food as well as outside fat trim. These issues had a score of over 4 indicating the importance of these issues to that group of family size. The next in ranking and, therefore important for a family size of 6 and above are eating at least one home prepared meal once a day, preference for home food to eating outside and the relatively high price of beef. These had a score of about 3.9 (figure 12). Similarly, for a family size of 4 to 6, issues that were ranked high i.e. 4 and above, include the family eating at least one home prepared meal a day, preference for home prepared food compared to eating out, food safety and outside fat trim of meats. Though relatively lower, similar rankings for these issues were also given by the group of family size 3 or less.

The rankings are not very different when the issues are assessed by age group. For each of the age groups, the highest rank was given to food safety. Other issues which were ranked high include speed and ease of preparation of meats, outside fat trim, preference for home prepared meals compared to eating out and for that matter eating at least one home prepared meal a day (figure 13). Similar patterns in rankings can be found with the income groups (figure 14) and groupings of opinions on biopreservative research (figure 15).

These findings strongly suggest that consumers are very concerned about food safety, especially the presence of inorganic substances in food in the form of preservatives, dyes, additives etc. Consumers also prefer convenience in their cooking habits. They prefer meat that can be prepared in a relatively short time and with less work. It is also clear that many consumers prefer home-prepared meals to eating out.

Finally, we assessed at how often in a month meat was eaten in the household of each survey respondent. Winnipeg had the most respondents who frequently ate pork (figure 17) while Regina responded most frequently to beef consumption (figure 18). For Victoria, fish and seafood were consumed more frequently than in any other city (figure 19). Edmonton respondents (figure 20) seems to eat less meat overall. However, the definition of frequently was left to each individual respondent.

### Conclusions

By comparing responses for each Canadian city that was surveyed we can look at the city trends and compare them to the overall average response. Winnipeg respondents, on average, agreed to most statements in the various segments. They generally thought that meat quality was very good and were more favorably inclined to new packaging techniques. Responses from Regina respondents were much the same as those from Winnipeg. except that Regina respondents were less favorably inclined to new packaging techniques. They were not as confident about beef and pork consistency. Although Victorian respondents ate at home they did not eat meat and potatoes as much as the average. However those who did were generally positive about meat quality and consistency. Finally, Edmontonians eat the least at home and prefer to eat out. They also potentially eat less meat and potatoes than on average. These results are only indicative since the questions did not specify any specific quantity.

We also looked at segmenting Part A responses by demographics other than location based upon specific responses in part C. Comparing income range to the part A statements showed no unexpected results. Looking at the age demographic we find that older people are more satisfied with the quality of meat. Finally, the size of family demographic shows us that the largest families are also the most demanding, as well, in regards to consistency in larger portions to feed larger families. Perhaps because larger families are not the norm anymore, they may be looking for better quality in larger sizes which may hard to come by.

There are many positive results in regards to peoples' perceptions of meat quality. However, about 30% of respondents agreed or strongly agreed that buying pork or beef was still a game of chance. The majority of respondents are quite concerned about food safety. These and other concerns need to be targeted by the industry.

Figure 7:



Figure 8:



Figure 9:



Figure 10:



Figure 11:



Figure 12:



Figure 13:



Figure 14:



Figure 15:



Figure 16:



Percentage Consumption of Meats: Winnipeg 29% Fish/Seafood 45% 26% 2% Poultry 16% 81% Not at all / rarely Less frequently Frequently 17% 54% Pork 29% 7% Beef 30% 62% 0% 40% 50% 10% 20% 30% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% Percentage

Figure 17:

Figure 18:



Figure 19:



Figure 20:

